MASTEROPPGAVE

Emnekode: BIO5002

Navn på kandidat: Hirono Suzuki

Growth and LC-PUFA production of the cold-adapted microalga *Koliella antarctica* in photobioreactors

Dato: 7/5/2018

Totalt antall sider: 56



www.nord.no

Master thesis for the degree of master of science (MSc) Faculty of Biosciences and Aquaculture Nord University 7th May 2018

Acknowledgements

To begin with, I would like to express my deep appreciation to my supervisor Dr. Chris Hulatt for his constant support, patience, enthusiasm and close supervision of this work. I cannot express enough my gratitude for his encouragement and willingness to help me all the time of my study and writing thesis. His mentality as a researcher has been inspiring and I am very grateful to have him as my supervisor. I also would like to sincerely thank Prof. Kiron Viswanath for coordinating the project and courses, his great enthusiasm and valuable guidance. He has given me a lot of support and skilled advice for designing my presentation and writing in details that I could not have been taught without. I must thank my main supervisor Prof. René Wijffels for his support, sharing his extensive knowledge and valuable advice. I am also really grateful to Bisa Saraswathy for her dedicated advice for writing work. Her experience of writing taught me a lot about how to write and construct a research article. I sincerely appreciate the opportunities to participate in two international conferences, and to write a journal article as a first author. My work could not have been this successful without their warm encouragement and help. I am also very thankful to Dr. Daniela Morales-Sanchez for giving me valuable feedback and advice for my work as a team member and an expert in microalgae. I must thank Peter Schulze for providing helpful reading materials and advice as a member of microalgae research team. I thank Bente Sunde for all her help in the laboratory in Styrhuset in Mørkvedbukta, and Anjana Palihawadana for guidance in the laboratory on campus. I would like to express my thanks to the following funding sources for support: the Aquaculture MS program in Nord University and the project 'Bioteknologi- en framtidsrettet næring', funded by Nordland County Government. I am grateful to all of the FBA staff for creating an enjoyable working environment. I am also thankful to Prof. Masashi Maita for his willingness to coordinate the international exchange program that encouraged me to participate in the masters program at Nord University. I need to thank my friends and colleagues in Bodø. They made my stay in Norway comfortable and helped me a lot during difficult periods. Most special thanks to my family for your support and understanding.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
SUMMARY	1
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	3
1.1 CURRENT STATUS OF AQUACULTURE	3
1.2 AQUACULTURE - NEED FOR ALTERNATIVE FEED INGREDIENTS	4
1.3 MICROALGAE AS AN ALTERNATIVE SOURCE OF AQUAFEED	6
1.4 INDUSTRIAL MICROALGAE CULTIVATION	8
2. CHALLENGES OF MICROALGAE PRODUCTION IN COOLER CLIMATES	10
3. OBJECTIVES	11
4. References	12
MANUSCRIPT	17
ABSTRACT	18
1. INTRODUCTION	19
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	21
2.1 Cultivation	
2.2 Experimental design	
2.2.1 Salinity experiment in 100 mL bubble tubes	
2.2.2 Stress experiment in 350 mL bubble tubes	23
2.2.3 Light experiments in flat-plate photobioreactors	23
2.3 Growth measurements	
2.4 Nutrients	
2.5 Fatty acid analysis of polar lipids and TAG	25
2.6 Elemental composition and protein content	25
2.7 Calculations	
3. RESULTS	27
3.1 Effect of salinity on growth in 100 mL bubble-tubes	27
3.2.1 Effect of different stressors on growth in 350 mL bubble-tubes	27

3.2.2 Effect of different stressors on fatty acid and protein production in 350 mL	
bubble-tubes	9
3.3.1 Effect of light intensity on growth in 380 mL flat-plate photobioreactors	3
3.3.2 Photosynthetic yield in 380 mL flat-plate photobioreactors	5
3.3.3 Fatty acid production in 380 mL flat-plate photobioreactors	6
3.4 Comparison of growth of <i>K</i> . <i>antarctica</i> with other temperate strains	8
4. DISCUSSION	9
4.1 Koliella antarctica is euryhaline, but prefers lower salinity conditions	9
4.2 Effect of nitrogen, phosphorus and high salinity stress on fatty acid production 4	0
4.3 <i>Koliella antarctica</i> produces the LC-PUFAs EPA and ARA	1
4.4 Protein content under nutrient stress	2
4.5 Koliella antarctica is productive under high irradiance in flat-plate	
photobioreactors	2
4.6 Conclusions	3
5. REFERENCES	5
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 4	9

Summary

Aquaculture is a fast-growing industry that plays an increasing role in producing food for humans. Production of quality aquafeeds requires a significant amount of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs), that are currently derived from fish oil. However, the dependence of aquafeed production on fish oil can reduce the amount of food available for direct human consumption and may have negative consequences to wild fish stocks by overfishing. The current supply of LC-PUFAs is already insufficient to meet global market demands and the price has dramatically increased in the last few decades. Therefore, there is an urgent need to find alternative aquafeed ingredients which contain essential LC-PUFAs and offer high nutritional values. Microalgae are the primary source of LC-PUFAs in aquatic ecosystems and are considered promising alternative sources of aquafeed ingredients. They can be grown rapidly, often in saline or waster, and can make use of marginal land. Thus, cultivated microalgae could offer much higher areal productivities and offer products with a small ecological footprint. Although the use of microalgae-derived products as aquafeed is very promising, successful industrial algae production is still rare. In particular, commonly used temperate and warm-water microalgae display substantially lower yield, or cannot survive, in cooler climates. Bioprospecting and optimization of strains that are able to grow rapidly at lower temperatures could enable year-round utilization of culture facilities in temperate zones, and promote microalgae cultivation in cooler climates. In this work, the cold-adapted microalga Koliella antarctica (Trebouxiophyceae) was cultivated at 15 °C to optimize growth and LC-PUFA production in bubble-tube and flat-plate photobioreactors. The impact of nitrogen starvation, phosphorus starvation, salinity and light intensity on the growth, fatty acid composition and protein content was investigated. After culture optimization, the maximum biomass productivity was 2.37 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹, which is comparable to that of temperate strains in similar cultivation systems. Amongst all conditions tested, the maximum total fatty acid (TFA) content measured 271.9 mg g^{-1} dry weight in the late stationary phase. Nitrogen and phosphorus starvation strongly induced neutral lipid (TAG) accumulation, up to 90.3% of TFA, that mostly consisted of the monounsaturated fatty acid C18:1n-9 (oleic acid, OA). PUFAs were also abundant and together accounted for 30-45% of total TAG. The highest eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5n-3) content amounted to 6.7 mg g⁻¹ dry weight (4.9% TFA) in control treatments, whilst the highest arachidonic acid (ARA, C20:4n-6) content was 9.6 mg g⁻¹ dry weight (3.5% TFA) in the late stationary phase. Phosphorus starvation was the best strategy to obtain high total fatty acid yields (mg L⁻¹) whilst maintaining the protein, total PUFA and long-chain omega-3 fatty acid contents. The strong growth rate of *K. antarctica* coupled with its favorable biochemical composition, including LC-PUFAs, may make this strain suitable for inclusion in aquafeed products. These findings indicate that *K. antarctica* and similar cold-adapted microalgae could be productive cell factories for PUFA and protein production in cooler climates.

General introduction

1.1 Current status of aquaculture

The world's population is increasing by roughly 83 million people every year, and estimated to reach 9.8 billion by 2050 (UN 2017). To meet the nutritional demands for the increasing population, food production needs to increase by 68 % in 2050 compared with 2005/2007 (Alexandratos and Bruinsma 2012). Aquaculture plays an increasing role in providing humans with high-quality protein and lipid sources. Aquaculture food production has drastically increased, whilst capture fishery production has stagnated since the late 1980s (FAO 2016, Fig. A). In 1990, total global aquaculture production was only 13 million tones, whereas in 2014 was 73.8 million tonnes with a value of 160.2 billion USD (FAO 2016). World aquaculture production in 2014 accounted for 44.1% of the total production from fisheries and aquaculture, up from 31.1% in 2004 (FAO 2016). The demand to produce more food in aquaculture is increasing not only due to population growth, but also due to increased consumer wealth in developing countries and preference towards healthy food (FAO 2016). Providing a sustainable source of aquafeed with high-quality ingredients is key for successful growth and the future sustainability of aquaculture (Glencross et al. 2007; Deutsch et al. 2007).



Fig A. World capture fisheries and aquaculture production from 1950 to 2014.

1.2 Aquaculture - need for alternative feed ingredients

Production of aquafeeds traditionally relies on fishmeal and fish oil, which originate from capture fisheries (Tacon and Metian 2008). Fishmeal is considered an ideal raw material due to its high protein content (51-72%), high nutrient digestibility, excellent amino acid profile, and high palatability (Gatlin Delbert et al. 2007). Fish oil is considered the optimal quality oil for farmed aquatic species. It provides long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LC-PUFAs) such as eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and arachidonic acid (ARA) that some fish cannot obtain at the required levels by endogenous synthesis (Glencross 2009). However, the dependence of aquafeed production on fishmeal and fish oil has been criticized for reducing the amount of food available for direct human consumption, as well as the consequences to wild fish stocks by overfishing (Deutsch et al. 2007; Naylor et al. 2000). The current supply of fishmeal and fish oil is already insufficient to meet global market demands and the prices of fishmeal and fish oil have shown significant increases in the last few decades (Fig. B, Fig. C). For example, fishmeal prices have risen by more than two-fold in the past ten years (FAO 2016). Therefore, terrestrial plant-based substitutes have been employed to replace conventional fishmeal and fish oil in farmed fish feeds (Hardy Ronald 2010; Turchini et al. 2011).



Fig B. Fishmeal and soybean meal prices in Germany and the Netherlands from 1983 to 2015 (FAO 2016).



Fig C. Fish oil and soybean oil prices in the Netherlands from 1984 to 2016 (FAO 2016).

Norwegian salmon feed, for example, successfully reduced the dependence on fishmeal and fish oil, and contained 66% plant ingredients in the 2012 diet (Ytrestøyl et al. 2015, Fig. D). These plant ingredients include soy protein concentrate, wheat gluten, fava beans, pea protein, maize gluten, and rapeseed oil (Turchini et al. 2011; Nasopoulou and Zabetakis 2012). However, the use of plant ingredients has drawbacks such as lower protein content, the absence of LC-PUFAs, and the presence of anti-nutritional factors that can cause intestinal inflammation in fish such as Atlantic salmon (Krogdahl et al. 2010; Francis et al. 2001; Carter and Hauler 2000). The intensive replacement of fishmeal and fish oil by plant ingredients has also resulted in high levels of omega-6 fatty acids and low levels of long chain omega-3 fatty acids in fish feeds (Ytrestøyl et al. 2015). This has led to a decline in EPA and DHA levels in final fish products, which may decrease the health benefits for human consumption (Sprague et al. 2016). Therefore, there is an urgent need to find alternative aquafeed ingredients which can provide quality nutritional values.



Fig D. Nutrient sources in Norwegian salmon farming from 1990 to 2013. Each ingredient type is shown as its percentage of the total diet (Ytrestøyl et al. 2015).

1.3 Microalgae as an alternative source of aquafeed

Microalgae are the natural diet of many fish and the primary producers of LC-PUFAs in the marine food web (Adarme-Vega et al. 2012). They are considered promising alternative sources for aquafeed because their nutritional value closely resembles fishmeal and fish oil (Khozin-Goldberg et al. 2011; Brown et al. 1997). Microalgae can also synthesize bioactive compounds and essential nutrients for aquatic species such as essential amino acids, essential fatty acids, vitamins, and pigments (Yaakob et al. 2014). Many feeding studies have demonstrated that some microalgae strains have promising features as aquafeed ingredients due to a high protein content, highly digestible protein (Skrede et al. 2011) and the presence of LC-PUFAs (Kousoulaki et al. 2015; Miller et al. 2007; Martins et al. 2013). Microalgae have also been reported to possess additional functional properties that may benefit health and disease control of aquatic species (Defoirdt et al. 2011; Yaakob et al. 2014). This includes antioxidant activity (Sheikhzadeh et al. 2012), immunostimulatory (Newaj-Fyzul and Austin 2015), anti-inflammatory (Grammes et al. 2013), and antimicrobial effects (Austin and Day 1990; Falaise et al. 2016). Besides their nutritional and functional values, microalgae can be grown rapidly, often in saline or wastewater, and can make use of marginal land. Thus, cultivated microalgae could offer much higher areal productivities and offer products with a smaller ecological footprint, compared with terrestrial plants (Draaisma et al. 2013).

Microalgae have already been used as protein sources for human and animal consumption. The large-scale commercial production of microalgae began in the early 1960s (Garcia et al. 2017). Spirulina and Chlorella that contain protein up to 70% of the dry weight are the major commercialized microalgae, and some of their products are sold as protein supplements with additional nutritional components such as vitamins and carotenoids for humans (Wells et al. 2017). Microalgae-derived biomass has also been used to feed domestic animals (Becker 2007), and more than 40 species of microalgae are used in aquaculture (Pulz and Gross 2004). The most commonly used aquaculture species include strains from the genera Chlorella, Tetraselmis, Isochrysis, Pavlova, Phaeodactylum, Chaetoceros, Nannochloropsis, Skeletonema and Thalassiosira (Priyadarshani and Rath 2012). Traditionally, live microalgae are fed to the larvae of fish, crustaceans, and mollusks as well as zooplankton, which are produced as feed for fish larvae (Pulz and Gross 2004). Apart from feeding microalgae directly to fish larvae and zooplankton, incorporation of microalgae biomass into aquafeeds has been intensively studied in recent years (Shah et al. 2017). Microalgae can be either incorporated as whole cell ingredients or as extracted and processed components such as concentrated oil supplements (Maisashvili et al. 2015). Defatted microalgae biomass is a by-product of biofuel or high value compound production (e.g. carotenoids and omega-3 fatty acids), and can also be used as a protein source in aquafeed that additionally contains minerals, carotenoids, and other bioactive compounds (Ju et al. 2012; Kiron et al. 2016; Sørensen et al. 2017).

The chemical and nutritional composition of microalgae varies depending on the species, strains, and culture conditions. The suitability of microalgae as ingredients in fish feeds may therefore differ accordingly (Skrede et al. 2011). For example, the protein digestibility was 35.3%, 79.9% and 18.8% for *Nannochloropsis oceania*, *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* and *Isochrysis galbana* (Skrede et al. 2011). The apparent protein digestibility of feed containing *Schizochytrium* sp. was estimated be 87-88% in Atlantic salmon, when the dried alga was included at 0-15% of the diet (Kousoulaki et al. 2015). In another feeding study of Atlantic salmon parr, the DHA-rich oil from the thraustochytrid *Schizochytrium* sp. was able to replace 100% of fish oil in the diet, without any detrimental effect on growth (Miller et al. 2007). Numerous feeding trials confirmed

that microalgae have the potential to partially or completely replace fishmeal and fish oil. These results were reviewed by Shah et al. (2018), Roy and Pal (2015) and Hemaiswarya et al. (2011). Thus, microalgae are considered a promising future alternative to provide quality feed ingredients in aquaculture. Since the nutritional value of microalgae varies widely among different species, extensive research is needed to further develop knowledge about the physiology and nutritional properties of microalgae strains (Wells et al. 2017).

1.4 Industrial microalgae cultivation

Microalgae are excellent sources of feedstocks for both food and non-food products, but the key to successful industrialization of microalgae cultivation rests on the production of biomass at a large scale. Phototrophic microalgae can be cultivated in either open raceway ponds or closed photobioreactors (Fig. E). In both systems, light intensity and temperature are critical factors affecting the performance of microalgae cultures (Mata et al. 2010). Open raceway ponds are shallow, ring-shaped channel systems that are relatively easy to operate. These are the most common cultivation systems and have been already used for production of nutraceutical and food products (Kumar et al. 2015; Gellenbeck 2012). However, raceway pond systems are often not efficient due to their generally low surface area to volume ratio, and offer only low photosynthetic efficiency (1.5%) together with low biomass productivity and cell density (0.1-0.5g/L) (Kumar et al. 2015). Harvesting and dewatering microalgae from these systems could require high energy costs, mainly due to the dilute nature of microalgae cultures in open ponds (Uduman et al. 2010). Moreover, open systems are prone to contamination and can be affected by the weather conditions (Pérez-López et al. 2017). Therefore, strains cultivated in open systems must be able to cope with fluctuation in abiotic factors including temperature and salinity, and also possible invasion by competitors and predators. As a result, relatively few microalgae species have been cultivated in these systems. Since monoalgal and axenic cultures are often required for nutraceutical and pharmaceutical applications, closed photobioreactor systems have been developed (Posten 2009). In closed photobioreactors, environmental parameters such as temperature and pH can be controlled, hence these systems offer the best method to achieve high productivity and high cell density (2-6 g/L), and to culture more sensitive microalgae with minimal contamination (Norsker et al. 2011; Draaisma et al. 2013). To maximize light energy utilization and production performance, various closed photobioreactors have been designed with large surface area to volume ratios and a short optical paths, including tubular or flat-plate systems (Posten 2009). Flat plate photobioreactors are amongst the most efficient photobioreactors that can reach ultrahigh cell density (>10g/L) (Richmond 2013) and consume less energy than tubular systems (Jorquera et al. 2010). The main disadvantage of closed photobioreactors is generally higher capital costs for installation and infrastructure compared with open ponds. However, photobioreactor systems are not necessarily more expensive in operation and this technology is still under development.



Fig E. Open raceway pond and closed photobioreactors (PBR) at AlgaePARC pilot facilities, Wageningen UR, the Netherlands (de Vree et al. 2015).

Although many studies have found that open ponds are more cost-efficient than closed systems (Davis et al. 2011; Richardson et al. 2012), some studies showed that the closed photobioreactors can be competitive with open raceway ponds systems for microalgae biomass production (Jorquera et al. 2010; Draaisma et al. 2013). Recent techno-economic analysis of microalgae for EPA and DHA production demonstrated that flat-plate photobioreactors have the lowest

production costs when compared with tubular and open ponds systems, with costs of 39.1 to 73.9 USD per kg total EPA and DHA in Spain and the Netherlands, respectively (Chauton et al. 2015). In the same study, the production cost increased by around 40% from flat-plate to tubular systems, and by around 80% from flat plate to open ponds systems. It has been estimated that the production cost could be reduced to 11.9 USD per kg total EPA and DHA by further optimization of biological productivity and engineering parameters in the next 5-10 years (Chauton et al. 2015).

2. Challenges of microalgae production in cooler climates

Despite the potential applications, successful large-scale industrial algae production is still rare. In cooler climates, commonly used temperate and warm-water microalgae display substantially lower yields or cannot survive (Pankratz et al. 2017; Moody et al. 2014, Fig. F). In nature, however, it has been estimated that approximately 72,500 species of algae exist (Guiry 2012). Among them, some microalgae have successfully colonized extremely cold environments such as glaciers, sea ice, polar and alpine regions (Varshney et al. 2015), and hence may exhibit higher biomass productivities. Bioprospecting and optimization of strains that are able to grow at low temperatures and contain high value compounds such as omega-3 fatty acids and pigments is critically required to develop microalgae cultivation in cooler climates (Kvíderová et al. 2017), and such work is only beginning.



Fig F. World map of lipid productivity potential from microalgae based on biological growth model representative of *Nannochloropsis* cultivated in photobioreactors. The optimal temperature for growth of the strain: 26°C (Moody et al. 2014).

In previous work, five different cold-adapted snow and soil microalgae were tested, and the results showed that these strains could produce relatively high biomass and lipid yields at low temperatures of 6°C (Hulatt et al. 2017). Amongst the strains, *Raphidonema sempervirens* exhibited one of the highest productivities and also contained the long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated acid, EPA. In this study, a closely related cold-adapted species *Koliella antarctica* (Trebouxiophyceae, Andreoli et al. 1998) was chosen to further investigate the potential biotechnological applications. Although the literature indicates that *K. anarctica* has promising features for biotechnological applications, including the production of LC-PUFAs (Lang et al. 2011), the best cultivation conditions for *K. antarctica* to obtain optimal growth and lipid production have not been reported. In particular, accurate information on its fatty acid profile, LC-PUFA content and TAG composition is not available. Therefore, we examined and optimized the growth and fatty acid production of *K. antarctica* in controlled experimental photobioreactors.

3. Objectives

The overall aim of this study was to investigate whether the cold-adapted microalga *K. antarctica* could be suitable for LC-PUFA production in cooler water temperatures. This thesis represents a contribution to the state of the art on the production of high value compounds, especially omega-3 and long chain fatty acids, from cold-adapted microalgae in photobioreactors. To achieve this goal, the study was divided into the following objectives:

- 1. Optimization of cultivation conditions for growth, including salinity and light intensity.
- 2. Characterization of the effect of nitrogen starvation, phosphorus starvation, and high salinity on protein content and the dynamics of fatty acids in TAG and polar lipids.
- 3. Evaluation of nutritional values for biotechnological applications.
- 4. Comparison of the maximum biomass productivity and photosynthetic efficiency of *K*. *antarctica* at cooler temperatures, with temperate strains.

These objectives were examined in the following manuscript.

4. References

- Adarme-Vega TC, Lim DKY, Timmins M, Vernen F, Li Y, Schenk PM (2012) Microalgal biofactories: a promising approach towards sustainable omega-3 fatty acid production. Microbial Cell Factories 11 (1):96. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-11-96
- Alexandratos N, Bruinsma J (2012) World agriculture towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision. ESA Working paper FAO, Rome
- Andreoli C, Lokhorst GM, Mani AM, Scarabel L, Moro I, La Rocca N, Tognetto L (1998) Koliella antarctica sp. nov.(Klebsormidiales) a new marine green microalga from the Ross Sea (Antarctica). Algological Studies/Archiv für Hydrobiologie, Supplement Volumes:1-8
- Austin B, Day J (1990) Inhibition of prawn pathogenic *Vibrio* spp. by a commercial spray-dried preparation of *Tetraselmis suecica*. Aquaculture 90 (3-4):389-392
- Becker EW (2007) Micro-algae as a source of protein. Biotechnology Advances 25 (2):207-210. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2006.11.002</u>
- Brown M, Jeffrey S, Volkman J, Dunstan G (1997) Nutritional properties of microalgae for mariculture. Aquaculture 151 (1-4):315-331
- Carter CG, Hauler RC (2000) Fish meal replacement by plant meals in extruded feeds for Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar L. Aquaculture 185 (3):299-311. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(99)00353-</u>1
- Chauton MS, Reitan KI, Norsker NH, Tveterås R, Kleivdal HT (2015) A techno-economic analysis of industrial production of marine microalgae as a source of EPA and DHA-rich raw material for aquafeed: Research challenges and possibilities. Aquaculture 436:95-103. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.10.038</u>
- Davis R, Aden A, Pienkos PT (2011) Techno-economic analysis of autotrophic microalgae for fuel production. Applied Energy 88 (10):3524-3531. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.04.018</u>
- de Vree JH, Bosma R, Janssen M, Barbosa MJ, Wijffels RH (2015) Comparison of four outdoor pilot-scale photobioreactors. Biotechnology for Biofuels 8 (1):215. doi:10.1186/s13068-015-0400-2
- Defoirdt T, Sorgeloos P, Bossier P (2011) Alternatives to antibiotics for the control of bacterial disease in aquaculture. Current opinion in microbiology 14 (3):251-258
- Deutsch L, Gräslund S, Folke C, Troell M, Huitric M, Kautsky N, Lebel L (2007) Feeding aquaculture growth through globalization: Exploitation of marine ecosystems for fishmeal. Global Environmental Change 17 (2):238-249. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.08.004
- Draaisma RB, Wijffels RH, Slegers PM, Brentner LB, Roy A, Barbosa MJ (2013) Food commodities from microalgae. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 24 (2):169-177. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2012.09.012</u>
- Falaise C, François C, Travers M-A, Morga B, Haure J, Tremblay R, Turcotte F, Pasetto P, Gastineau R, Hardivillier Y (2016) Antimicrobial compounds from eukaryotic microalgae against human pathogens and diseases in aquaculture. Marine drugs 14 (9):159
- FAO (2016) Aquaculture Department (2016) The state of world fisheries and aquaculture. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome

- Francis G, Makkar HPS, Becker K (2001) Antinutritional factors present in plant-derived alternate fish feed ingredients and their effects in fish. Aquaculture 199 (3):197-227. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(01)00526-9</u>
- Garcia JL, de Vicente M, Galan B (2017) Microalgae, old sustainable food and fashion nutraceuticals. Microbial biotechnology 10 (5):1017-1024. doi:10.1111/1751-7915.12800
- Gatlin Delbert M, Barrows Frederic T, Brown P, Dabrowski K, Gaylord TG, Hardy Ronald W, Herman E, Hu G, Krogdahl Å, Nelson R, Overturf K, Rust M, Sealey W, Skonberg D, Edward JS, Stone D, Wilson R, Wurtele E (2007) Expanding the utilization of sustainable plant products in aquafeeds: a review. Aquaculture Research 38 (6):551-579. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2007.01704.x
- Gellenbeck KW (2012) Utilization of algal materials for nutraceutical and cosmeceutical applications what do manufacturers need to know? Journal of Applied Phycology 24 (3):309-313. doi:10.1007/s10811-011-9722-z
- Glencross BD (2009) Exploring the nutritional demand for essential fatty acids by aquaculture species. Reviews in Aquaculture 1 (2):71-124. doi:10.1111/j.1753-5131.2009.01006.x
- Glencross BD, Booth M, Allan GL (2007) A feed is only as good as its ingredients a review of ingredient evaluation strategies for aquaculture feeds. Aquaculture Nutrition 13 (1):17-34. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2095.2007.00450.x
- Grammes F, Reveco FE, Romarheim OH, Landsverk T, Mydland LT, Øverland M (2013) *Candida utilis* and *Chlorella vulgaris* counteract intestinal inflammation in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). PLoS One 8 (12):e83213
- Guiry MD (2012) How many species of algae are there? Journal of phycology 48 (5):1057-1063
- Hardy Ronald W (2010) Utilization of plant proteins in fish diets: effects of global demand and supplies of fishmeal. Aquaculture Research 41 (5):770-776. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2009.02349.x
- Hulatt CJ, Berecz O, Egeland ES, Wijffels RH, Kiron V (2017) Polar snow algae as a valuable source of lipids? Bioresource Technology 235:338-347. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.03.130</u>
- Jorquera O, Kiperstok A, Sales EA, Embiruçu M, Ghirardi ML (2010) Comparative energy life-cycle analyses of microalgal biomass production in open ponds and photobioreactors. Bioresource Technology 101 (4):1406-1413. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.09.038</u>
- Ju ZY, Deng D-F, Dominy W (2012) A defatted microalgae (*Haematococcus pluvialis*) meal as a protein ingredient to partially replace fishmeal in diets of Pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*, Boone, 1931). Aquaculture 354:50-55
- Khozin-Goldberg I, Iskandarov U, Cohen Z (2011) LC-PUFA from photosynthetic microalgae: occurrence, biosynthesis, and prospects in biotechnology. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 91 (4):905-915. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3441-x
- Kiron V, Sørensen M, Huntley M, Vasanth GK, Gong Y, Dahle D, Palihawadana AM (2016) Defatted biomass of the microalga, *Desmodesmus* sp., can replace fishmeal in the feeds for Atlantic salmon. Frontiers in Marine Science 3:67
- Kousoulaki K, Østbye T-KK, Krasnov A, Torgersen JS, Mørkøre T, Sweetman J (2015) Metabolism, health and fillet nutritional quality in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed diets containing n-3-rich microalgae. Journal of nutritional science 4

- Krogdahl Å, Penn M, Thorsen J, Refstie S, Bakke Anne M (2010) Important antinutrients in plant feedstuffs for aquaculture: an update on recent findings regarding responses in salmonids. Aquaculture Research 41 (3):333-344. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2009.02426.x
- Kumar K, Mishra SK, Shrivastav A, Park MS, Yang J-W (2015) Recent trends in the mass cultivation of algae in raceway ponds. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 51:875-885. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.06.033</u>
- Kvíderová J, Shukla SP, Pushparaj B, Elster J (2017) Perspectives of low-temperature biomass production of polar microalgae and biotechnology expansion into high latitudes. In: Margesin R (ed) Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 585-600. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-57057-0_25
- Lang I, Hodac L, Friedl T, Feussner I (2011) Fatty acid profiles and their distribution patterns in microalgae: a comprehensive analysis of more than 2000 strains from the SAG culture collection. BMC Plant Biology 11 (1):124. doi:10.1186/1471-2229-11-124
- Maisashvili A, Bryant H, Richardson J, Anderson D, Wickersham T, Drewery M (2015) The values of whole algae and lipid extracted algae meal for aquaculture. Algal Research 9:133-142. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2015.03.006</u>
- Martins D, Custódio L, Barreira L, Pereira H, Ben-Hamadou R, Varela J, Abu-Salah K (2013) Alternative sources of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in marine microalgae. Marine Drugs 11 (7):2259
- Mata TM, Martins AA, Caetano NS (2010) Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 14 (1):217-232. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2009.07.020</u>
- Miller MR, Nichols PD, Carter CG (2007) Replacement of fish oil with thraustochytrid *Schizochytrium* sp. L oil in Atlantic salmon parr (*Salmo salar* L) diets. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 148 (2):382-392
- Moody JW, McGinty CM, Quinn JC (2014) Global evaluation of biofuel potential from microalgae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111 (23):8691
- Nasopoulou C, Zabetakis I (2012) Benefits of fish oil replacement by plant originated oils in compounded fish feeds. A review. LWT Food Science and Technology 47 (2):217-224. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2012.01.018</u>
- Naylor RL, Goldburg RJ, Primavera JH, Kautsky N, Beveridge MC, Clay J, Folke C, Lubchenco J, Mooney H, Troell M (2000) Effect of aquaculture on world fish supplies. Nature 405 (6790):1017
- Newaj-Fyzul A, Austin B (2015) Probiotics, immunostimulants, plant products and oral vaccines, and their role as feed supplements in the control of bacterial fish diseases. Journal of fish diseases 38 (11):937-955
- Norsker N-H, Barbosa MJ, Vermuë MH, Wijffels RH (2011) Microalgal production A close look at the economics. Biotechnology Advances 29 (1):24-27. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2010.08.005</u>
- Pankratz S, Oyedun AO, Zhang X, Kumar A (2017) Algae production platforms for Canada's northern climate. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 80:109-120

- Pérez-López P, de Vree JH, Feijoo G, Bosma R, Barbosa MJ, Moreira MT, Wijffels RH, van Boxtel AJB, Kleinegris DMM (2017) Comparative life cycle assessment of real pilot reactors for microalgae cultivation in different seasons. Applied Energy 205:1151-1164. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.08.102</u>
- Posten C (2009) Design principles of photo-bioreactors for cultivation of microalgae. Engineering in Life Sciences 9 (3):165-177. doi:10.1002/elsc.200900003
- Priyadarshani I, Rath B (2012) Commercial and industrial applications of microalgae–A review. J algal biomass utln 3 (4):89-100
- Pulz O, Gross W (2004) Valuable products from biotechnology of microalgae. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 65 (6):635-648. doi:10.1007/s00253-004-1647-x
- Richardson JW, Johnson MD, Outlaw JL (2012) Economic comparison of open pond raceways to photo bio-reactors for profitable production of algae for transportation fuels in the Southwest. Algal Research 1 (1):93-100. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.algal.2012.04.001
- Richmond A (2013) Biological principles of mass cultivation of photoautotrophic microalgae. Handbook of Microalgal Culture: Applied Phycology and Biotechnology, Second Edition:169-204
- Shah MR, Lutzu GA, Alam A, Sarker P, Kabir Chowdhury MA, Parsaeimehr A, Liang Y, Daroch M (2017) Microalgae in aquafeeds for a sustainable aquaculture industry. Journal of Applied Phycology. doi:10.1007/s10811-017-1234-z
- Sheikhzadeh N, Tayefi-Nasrabadi H, Oushani AK, Enferadi MHN (2012) Effects of *Haematococcus* pluvialis supplementation on antioxidant system and metabolism in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus* mykiss). Fish physiology and biochemistry 38 (2):413-419
- Skrede A, Mydland L, Ahlstrøm Ø, Reitan K, Gislerød H, Øverland M (2011) Evaluation of microalgae as sources of digestible nutrients for monogastric animals. Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences 20 (1)
- Sørensen M, Gong Y, Bjarnason F, Vasanth GK, Dahle D, Huntley M, Kiron V (2017) Nannochloropsis oceania-derived defatted meal as an alternative to fishmeal in Atlantic salmon feeds. PloS one 12 (7):e0179907
- Sprague M, Dick JR, Tocher DR (2016) Impact of sustainable feeds on omega-3 long-chain fatty acid levels in farmed Atlantic salmon, 2006–2015. Scientific reports 6:21892
- Tacon AGJ, Metian M (2008) Global overview on the use of fish meal and fish oil in industrially compounded aquafeeds: Trends and future prospects. Aquaculture 285 (1):146-158. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.08.015</u>
- Turchini GM, Ng W-K, Tocher DR (2011) Fish oil replacement and alternative lipid sources in aquaculture feeds. Boca Raton, CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group
- Uduman N, Qi Y, Danquah MK, Forde GM, Hoadley A (2010) Dewatering of microalgal cultures: a major bottleneck to algae-based fuels. Journal of renewable and sustainable energy 2 (1):012701
- UN (2017) World Population Prospects: The 2017 Revision, Key Findings and Advance Tables. United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division
- Varshney P, Mikulic P, Vonshak A, Beardall J, Wangikar PP (2015) Extremophilic micro-algae and their potential contribution in biotechnology. Bioresource Technology 184:363-372. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.11.040</u>

- Wells ML, Potin P, Craigie JS, Raven JA, Merchant SS, Helliwell KE, Smith AG, Camire ME, Brawley SH (2017) Algae as nutritional and functional food sources: revisiting our understanding. Journal of Applied Phycology 29 (2):949-982. doi:10.1007/s10811-016-0974-5
- Yaakob Z, Ali E, Zainal A, Mohamad M, Takriff MS (2014) An overview: biomolecules from microalgae for animal feed and aquaculture. Journal of Biological Research-Thessaloniki 21 (1):6. doi:10.1186/2241-5793-21-6
- Ytrestøyl T, Aas TS, Åsgård T (2015) Utilisation of feed resources in production of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in Norway. Aquaculture 448:365-374. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.06.023</u>

Manuscript

Growth and LC-PUFA production of the cold-adapted microalga *Koliella antarctica* in photobioreactors

Hirono Suzuki¹, Chris J Hulatt^{1,2}, René H Wijffels^{1,3}, Viswanath Kiron¹

¹Faculty of Biosciences and Aquaculture, Nord University, Bodø, Norway.

²Department of Chemistry, Colorado School of Mines, Golden CO 80401, USA.

³Bioprocess Engineering, AlgaePARC, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands.

Corresponding author: Chris J Hulatt

christopher.j.hulatt@nord.no; chulatt@mines.edu

Tel: (+1) 303-746-9559

ORCID: 0000-0002-2741-8402

Abstract

Microalgae are excellent sources of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), but only a few species have been thoroughly investigated in controlled photobioreactor conditions. In this work, the cold-adapted microalga Koliella antarctica (Trebouxiophyceae) was cultivated at 15 °C to optimize growth and PUFA production in bubble-tube and flat-plate photobioreactors. The impact of nitrogen starvation, phosphorus starvation, salinity and light intensity on the growth, fatty acid composition and protein content was investigated. After culture optimization, a maximum biomass productivity of 2.37 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹, and maximum cell density of 11.68 g L⁻¹ were achieved. Amongst all conditions tested, the maximum total fatty acid (TFA) content measured 271.9 mg g⁻¹ dry weight in the late stationary phase. Nitrogen and phosphorus starvation strongly induced neutral lipid (TAG) accumulation, up to 90.3% of TFA, that mostly consisted of the monounsaturated fatty acid C18:1n-9 (oleic acid, OA). PUFAs were also abundant and together accounted for 30-45% of total TAG. The highest eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5n-3) content amounted to 6.7 mg g⁻¹ dry weight (4.9% TFA) in control treatments, whilst the highest arachidonic acid (ARA, C20:4n-6) content was 9.6 mg g⁻¹ dry weight (3.5% TFA) in the late stationary phase. Phosphorus starvation was the best strategy to obtain high total fatty acid yields $(mg L^{-1})$ whilst maintaining the protein, total PUFA and long-chain omega-3 fatty acid contents.

Keywords: omega-3 fatty acid; LC-PUFA; eicosapentaenoic acid EPA; flat-plate photobioreactor; triacylglycerol; cold-adapted microalgae

1. Introduction

Microalgae are excellent sources of bioactive compounds that are known to benefit animal and human health (Borowitzka 2013). Among them are polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), particularly long-chain PUFAs (LC-PUFAs) with carbon chain lengths of C20 and above. Especially, eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, C20:5n-3), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:6n-3) and arachidonic acid (ARA, C20:4n-6) are important dietary components for animals and humans (Khozin-Goldberg et al. 2011; Martins et al. 2013b). At present, LC-PUFAs are mostly derived from fish oils, but cultivated microalgae could provide "natural" and "healthy" vegetarian alternatives that have lower environmental impacts (Wijffels and Barbosa 2010; Chisti 2013; Khozin-Goldberg et al. 2011). Although research on microalgae-derived PUFAs is very promising, only a few species have been thoroughly investigated, and many of these are from temperate or warm-water habitats. Bioprospecting and optimization of strains that are able to grow rapidly at lower temperatures could also enable year-round utilization of culture facilities in temperate zones, and promote microalgae cultivation in cooler climates (Kvíderová et al. 2017).

Cold-adapted microalgae from polar habitats recently gained much attention not only for PUFA production (Spijkerman et al. 2012; Teoh et al. 2004), but also for their potential to achieve high productivity at lower water temperatures (Hulatt et al. 2017). Their evolutionary adaptations have enabled them to successfully colonize many low-temperature areas, including glaciers, sea ice, polar and alpine regions, which are often characterized by large seasonal fluctuations in environmental factors such as light and osmotic stress (Procházková et al. 2018; Morgan-Kiss et al. 2006). Such adaptations could benefit industrial cultivation systems, where microalgae often encounter fluctuations in light intensity, low temperature and variable salinity, each of which can impact culture productivity. Besides, the elevation of PUFA levels in membrane lipids is one of the key adaptive strategies that microalgae use to maintain cell metabolism at lower water temperatures (Morgan-Kiss et al. 2006; Boelen et al. 2013). Coldadapted microalgae may therefore be more productive sources of PUFAs and other algaederivatives that could be used as food or feed products. In microalgae cell cultures, abiotic factors such as temperature, salinity, light and nutrient availability can be altered to induce high-value fatty acid production. Although physiological responses to these stressors are often species or strain-specific, the accumulation of fatty acids is often coincident with reduced growth rate, leading to an overall decrease in fatty acid productivity (Chen et al. 2017). Moreover, the main storage lipids in microalgae are triacylglycerols (TAG) that accumulate under stress conditions, and are often comprised by saturated and mono-unsaturated fatty acids (Sharma et al. 2012). This in turn alters microalgae oil quality and its nutritional profile, e.g. a decrease in the proportion of PUFAs. Hence, the best culture conditions should be carefully selected to maximize the production of PUFAs (Markou and Nerantzis 2013).

The cold-adapted microalga *Koliella antarctica* (Trebouxiophyceae, Andreoli *et al.*, 1998) is a potential candidate green alga for PUFA production due to the presence of LC-PUFAs (Lang et al. 2011). *Koliella antarctica* can grow at low temperatures down to 2 °C, and achieves maximum growth at 15 °C (Vona et al. 2004). However, the best cultivation conditions for *K*. *antarctica* to obtain optimal growth and lipid production are not reported. In particular, accurate information on its fatty acid profile, LC-PUFA content and TAG composition are not available.

In this work, we optimized the growth and fatty acid production of *K. antarctica* in controlled photobioreactors. The impact of nitrogen starvation, phosphorus starvation, salinity and light intensity on the growth, fatty acid composition and protein content of *K. antarctica* was investigated. Polar lipids and TAG were separated and changes in the fatty acid profiles of these fractions were characterized. The effect of light intensity on the growth and photosynthetic efficiency of *K. antarctica* was subsequently measured using flat-plate photobioreactors. Finally, the productivity of *K. antarctica* at 15 °C, adopting the optimal conditions, was compared with that of other temperate microalgae strains.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Cultivation

Koliella antarctica SAG 2030 (Chlorophyta, Trebouxiophyceae) was obtained from the Culture Collection of Algae at Göttingen University (SAG, Germany). Prior to experiments, the cultures were maintained in 250 mL Erlenmeyer flasks with Bolds Basal Medium (BBM, Bischoff and Bold, 1963). The cultures were illuminated with a light intensity of $90 \pm 20 \mu mol m^{-2} s^{-1}$, supplied by cool-white fluorescent lamps. A temperature of 15 °C was maintained throughout experiments, which is representative of summer conditions in cool climates, and winter temperatures in warmer parts of the world.

2.2 Experimental design

2.2.1 Salinity experiment in 100 mL bubble tubes

Koliella antarctica was cultivated in 27 mm diameter glass bubble tubes containing 80 mL of BBM (Table 1, Fig. 1) to which different amounts of artificial sea salt were added. Salinities 0, 2, 4, 8, 16, and 32 ‰ were tested, and cultures were illuminated at 80 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ using white fluorescent lamps. Each treatment was maintained in a climate-controlled incubator (Termaks AS, Bergen, Norway) and the tubes with different treatments were randomized. Cultures were sparged with air enriched with 1.0% CO₂ at a flow rate of 100 mL min⁻¹, supplied by a precision gas mixer (Photon Systems Instruments, Drasov, Czech Republic) and delivered to each tube by individual air rotameters (FL-2000, Omega, Manchester, UK). Samples for biomass measurement were taken daily over a two-week cultivation period, and each treatment was performed in duplicate.



Fig 1. Experimental design and two types of photobioreactor used in the present study including bubble tubes (left) and flat-plate photobioreactors (right) with 14 mm light path length.

Experiment	Reactor type	Volume (mL)	Light intensity (µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹)	Treatment	Salinity (‰)	Nutrient medium	CO ₂ (%)
Salinity	Bubble tubes	100	80	-	0,2,4,8,16,32	BBM	1
Stress	Bubble tubes	350	120	Control	4	3N-BBM	1
Stress	Bubble tubes	350	120	N starvation	4	3N-BBM without nitrate	1
Stress	Bubble tubes	350	120	P starvation	4	3N-BBM without phosphate	1
Stress	Bubble tubes	350	120	HS	32	3N-BBM	1
Li-Ex I	Flat plate	380	70, 250, 500	-	4	2N-BBM	1
Li-Ex II	Flat plate	380	500	-	4	3× 3N-BBM	5

Table 1. Summary of experimental treatments in this study.

^aBBM is Bold's Basal Medium in its original formulation, whilst 3N-BBM is the common adjustment where the nitrate concentration is increased 3-fold (3N). Additional adjustments were made for individual experiments, where 2N-BBM corresponds to double the concentration of nitrate, and 3× 3N-BBM is 3N-BBM formulation at three-fold its original concentration.

^bThe soil extract component of Bold's Basal Medium remained the same in all of the media in this study.

2.2.2 Stress experiment in 350 mL bubble tubes

In this experiment, larger 350 mL glass bubble tubes (Fig. 1) were used to test the effect of nitrogen (N-), phosphorus (P-) and high salinity (HS) stress conditions on growth, fatty acid and protein production. Cultures used in all experimental treatments were initially grown in the same 320 mL of 3N-BBM medium (BBM with 3-fold nitrate, see Table 1) supplied with 1.0% CO₂ at 120 µmol photons $m^{-2} s^{-1}$. When the cultures reached the exponential phase, the cells in each tube were centrifuged (3500 rcf, 5 min), washed and resuspended in one of four experimental media. The four treatments were (i) control (3N-BBM), (ii) nitrate free, N- (3N-BBM without NaNO₃), (ii) phosphate free, P- (3N-BBM without KH₂PO₄ or K₂HPO₄) and (iv) high salt, HS (3N-BBM with artificial sea salt added to 32 g L⁻¹) (Table 1). The time of washing and the application of experimental treatments was designated as the start of the experiment (t = 0). Each treatment was performed in triplicate and randomly assigned to one of the bioreactors.

2.2.3 Light experiments in flat-plate photobioreactors

Koliella antarctica was cultivated in 380 mL flat-plate photobioreactors (*Algaemist-S*, Ontwikkelwerkplaats, Wageningen UR, The Netherlands) shown in Figure 1. Prior to the experiments, the bioreactor and each medium (Table 1) were autoclaved (121 °C, 20 min). The reactor cultivation vessel with a 14 mm light path was illuminated continuously with warm-white LEDs from one side. Cultures were sparged with 0.2 µm filtered air (Acrodisc PTFE filters, Pall Corporation, New York, USA) enriched with either 1.0 or 5.0 % CO₂ (Table 1). The cultivation temperature was accurately controlled with an external cooling system (Julabo F25, JULABO GmbH, Seelbach, Germany) and an internal heating system, maintaining 15 °C \pm 0.4. The photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD, µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR) incident on the front of the cultivation vessel was measured with a Li-Cor189 2 π quantum sensor. The output PPFD (the light transmitted through the reactor) was determined by calibrating the photobioreactor light sensor with the average PPFD, which was measured at 28 positions with the LiCor sensor. In the first experiment (Li-Ex I) the PPFD on the front surface was 23 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ for the first six days, to

avoid immediate light stress, then increased to either 70, 250 or 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. In the second experiment (Li-Ex II) with higher nutrient concentrations, only 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ was supplied.

2.3 Growth measurements

The optical density was determined by measuring the absorbance at 540 and 680 nm in a 1 cm cuvette, using a spectrophotometer (Hach-Lange DR3900, Hach Lange GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany). The samples were diluted with medium (1 to 50-fold) to maintain the absorbance reading below 1.0 for linear response. The dry weight was determined by filtering 10 mL of culture broth through pre-weighed ~1.0 μ m pore size 47 mm glass fiber filters (VWR, Oslo, Norway). Filters were then rinsed with isotonic ammonium formate (0.5 M for salinity and stress experiment, 0.06 M for flat-plate photobioreactor) to remove extracellular salt and dried at 95 °C for 48 h. Filters were subsequently re-weighted and the dry weight (g L⁻¹) was calculated. The dry weight was calibrated with the absorbance at 540 nm as in Eq (1) ($R^2 = 0.99$, n = 26).

 $DW = (0.295 \cdot A_{540}) + 0.088 \quad (1)$

Where DW is the calculated dry weight (g L^{-1}) based on the spectrophotometer absorbance at 540 nm (A₅₄₀). The absorbance ratio (A₆₈₀/A₅₄₀) was also determined to indicate the ratio of pigments (mainly chlorophyll) to the biomass. Samples for further biochemical analysis were obtained by pelleting cells in 2.0 mL microcentrifuge tubes, washing with isotonic ammonium formate to remove salt, then stored at -40 °C.

2.4 Nutrients

Samples for nitrate and phosphate analysis were centrifuged (3500 rcf, 5 min) and the supernatant was stored at -40 °C. The extracellular nitrate and phosphate concentration were measured with standard colorimetric methods as described by Ringuet et al. (2011). Nitrate was reduced to nitrite by NADH:nitrate reductase (NECi Superior Enzymes, Lake Linden, USA) and measured at 540 nm (FLUOstar Optima, BMG Lab-tech, Ortenberg, Germany) using a 96-well microplate. Extracellular phosphate was determined using the ascorbic acid/molybdate method, and the

absorbance of the colored complex was measured at 880 nm with a spectrophotometer (Hach-Lange DR3900). Nitrate and phosphate uptake rates (mM L⁻¹d⁻¹) were calculated by dividing the change in nutrient concentrations by the difference in time.

2.5 Fatty acid analysis of polar lipids and TAG

Total lipids were extracted from approximately 7 mg of freeze-dried biomass using 4.0 mL of chloroform:methanol solvent (2:2.5 v/v) containing internal standard (Tripentadecanoin, C15:0 Triacylglycerol, Sigma-Aldrich, Oslo, Norway). A bead mill (Precellys 24, Bertin Technologies, Montigny le Bretonneux, France) and 0.1 mm glass beads was used for the extraction. TAG and polar lipids were separated by solid-phase extraction with Waters Sep-Pak columns (1 g silica cartridges, 6 mL, Waters, Dublin, Ireland). Neutral lipids (TAG) were first eluted with 10 mL of 7:1 (v/v) hexane:diethylether, then polar lipids were eluted with 10 mL of methanol:acetone:hexane (2:2:1 v/v/v). Solvents were then evaporated under N₂ gas and the fatty acids were derivatized to fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) by adding acidic methanol (3.0 mL 5% H₂SO₄ in methanol, 70 °C for 3 hours). FAMEs were collected into hexane and quantified using a Gas Chromatograph equipped with a Flame Ionisation Detector (SCION 436, Bruker, Livingston, UK) and an Agilent CP-Wax 52CB column (Agilent technologies, Santa Clara, USA). Supelco 37 component standards (Sigma-Aldrich, Bellefonte, USA) were used for identification and quantification of the FAMEs. Additional standards were obtained to identify more unusual C16 and C18 series fatty acids.

2.6 Elemental composition and protein content

The elemental composition of biomass including carbon, hydrogen and nitrogen (CHN) was determined by elemental analysis (Elemental Microanalysis, Okehampton, UK). The protein content (%) was calculated using a nitrogen-to-protein conversion factor of N \times 4.78 (Lourenço et al. 2004), where N is the elemental nitrogen content (%).

2.7 Calculations

The volumetric productivity (mg $L^{-1} d^{-1}$) was calculated between two time points, as in Eq (2).

$$P_i = \frac{C_{x.i} - C_{x.i-1}}{t_i - t_{i-1}} \quad (2)$$

Where *P* is the productivity, C_{xi} and C_{Xi-1} are the concentrations of the biomass (g L⁻¹) at two time points and $t_i - t_{i-1}$ is the time between measurements. For the salinity experiment, the maximum productivity was calculated between days 5 and 7 ($t_i - t_{i-1} = 2$ days). In the stress experiment, the average productivity was calculated between days 0 and 5 ($t_i - t_{i-1} = 5$ days). In Li-Ex I and Li-Ex II, the maximum volumetric productivity during the cultivation was calculated as the highest productivity observed between two time points in each treatment. The maximum areal productivity P_A (g m⁻² d⁻¹) was calculated according to Eq (3).

$$P_A = \frac{P_{max} \cdot V_R}{I_A} \quad (3)$$

where P_{max} is the maximum productivity (g L⁻¹ d⁻¹), V_R is the reactor volume (0.38 L) and I_A is illuminated surface area (0.029 m²). The maximum biomass yield per mol photons PAR (Y_{x/mol}, g mol⁻¹) was calculated using Eq (4).

$$Y_{X/mol} = \frac{P_A}{PPFD} \quad (4)$$

Where PPFD is the average PAR photon flux density on surface of the reactor (mol $m^{-2} d^{-1}$).

3.Results

3.1 Effect of salinity on growth in 100 mL bubble-tubes

The growth of *K. antarctica* in different salinities ranging from freshwater (0‰) to seawater (32‰) conditions is shown in Table 2 and Figure 1S. Higher growth was attained under low salinity conditions (<8‰). At salinity levels from 0 to 16‰, the maximum dry weight was in the range 2.69 to 2.90 g L⁻¹. However, at salinity 32‰ the maximum biomass concentration was lower, reaching only 2.14 g L⁻¹. The maximum productivity of 0.53 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ was achieved by *K. antarctica* during exponential growth at salinity 4‰. Hence, 4‰ was selected as the optimal salinity for further cultivations.

Salinity (‰)	Maximum dry weight	Maximum productivity
	(g L ⁻¹)	$(g L^{-1} day^{-1})$
0	2.69 ± 0.03	0.51 ± 0.006
2	2.87 ± 0.10	0.50 ± 0.001
4	2.90 ± 0.02	0.53 ± 0.042
8	2.77 ± 0.03	0.46 ± 0.026
16	2.69 ± 0.06	0.48 ± 0.002

 0.45 ± 0.052

 Table 2. Maximum dry weight and biomass productivity of K. antarctica cultured under different salinities.

Values are mean \pm standard error of duplicates.

32

 2.14 ± 0.14

3.2.1 Effect of different stressors on growth in 350 mL bubble-tubes

To select the best strategy that enables *K. antarctica* to produce high amounts of fatty acids and PUFAs, we investigated the impact of nitrogen (N-) starvation, phosphorus (P-) starvation and high salinity (HS) conditions on fatty acid and protein assimilation in two-stage cultures. After the cultures entered the exponential phase, the cells were washed and resuspended in different media for either N starvation, P starvation or HS conditions in the second stage (Table 1). Control cultures were resuspended in complete 3N-BBM nutrient medium. The growth curves of *K. antarctica* cultivated under the four conditions are shown in Fig 2a. In all conditions the biomass

concentration increased, but the growth pattern differed among the treatments. Control cultures displayed strong growth and achieved the highest dry weight of 3.7 g L⁻¹, at day 5. The lag phase in the HS treatment extended to 2 days, but the growth rate was eventually similar to that in the P-starved condition; both achieved similar maximum dry weights of 2.2 g L⁻¹ and 2.3 g L⁻¹, respectively. The growth of *K. antarctica* under N starvation was much lower compared with the other treatments, where the maximum biomass reached only a quarter of that achieved in the control medium.



Fig 2. Effect of N starvation, P starvation and high salinity (32%) on the growth and nutrient uptake of *K*. *antarctica* in batch cultures. (a) Cell density (g L⁻¹). (b) Extracellular nitrate concentration (mM). (c) Absorbance ratio (A_{680}/A_{540}). (d) Extracellular phosphate concentration (mM). The error bars indicate standard error of the mean (n = 3).

Figures 2b and 2d illustrate the nitrate and phosphate assimilation capacity of *K. antarctica* under different stress conditions, whilst the corresponding nutrient uptake rates are presented in Table 3. Phosphate uptake in the N-starved cultures was 0.10 mM d⁻¹, which was lower compared to those in the control (0.71 mM d⁻¹) and HS groups (0.55 mM d⁻¹). The nitrate uptake rate in P-starved cultures was 1.77 mM d⁻¹, which was about half of that in control group (3.38 mM d⁻¹). From day 0 to 5, the A₆₈₀/A₅₄₀ ratio in both N and P starved media decreased, but N-starved cells were characterized by lower ratios compared with P-starved cells, indicating loss of photosynthetic pigments (Fig. 2c). At the end of cultivation, the values for N-starved cells and P-starved cells were 0.95 and 1.04, respectively (Fig. 2c). Due to rapid growth in the control treatments, nitrate and phosphate were each exhausted by day 3 (Fig. 2b, d). Similarly, the cells under HS conditions also consumed nitrate by day 5. Hence, *K. antarctica* in the control medium and 32‰ salinity condition still experienced N+P and N starvation respectively, during the later stages of cultivation.

3.2.2 Effect of different stressors on fatty acid and protein production in 350 mL bubble-tubes Table 3 shows that N-starved and P-starved treatments produced the highest concentrations of total fatty acids (TFA) at day 5 (each 18 % of DW), but the reduced biomass productivity under N starvation ultimately led to the lowest fatty acid yield of 165.4 mg L⁻¹. In contrast, control cultures achieved high biomass productivity of 0.69 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ and total fatty acids were 13.6% DW, leading to the highest TFA yield of 507.6 mg L⁻¹. Under P starvation, the protein content of *K*. *antarctica* was 31.4 ± 0.2 % DW, which was much higher than that under N starvation (12.2 ± 0.4 % DW) and control treatments (21.9 ± 0.7 % DW). Cells in N-starved conditions had a mean C:N ratio of 19.8 ± 0.4, approximately twice that of the other treatments, which ranged from 7.9 to 10.7.

Table 3. Effect of N starvation, P starvation and high salinity (32‰) on growth, biochemical composition, and nutrient assimilation. The average biomass productivities P_v (g L⁻¹ d⁻¹) from day 0 to 5 and fatty acid content per volume of culture Y_{FA} (mg L⁻¹), nitrate uptake (mM d⁻¹) and phosphate uptake (mM d⁻¹) were calculated as described in the materials and methods. Fatty acid content C_{FA} (% DW), protein content C_{pro} (%DW) and the C:N ratio were measured at day 5.

Treatment	$P_V (g L^{-1} d^{-1})$ (day 0 to 5)	Y _{FA} (mg L ⁻¹) (day 5)	C _{FA} (% DW) (day 5)	C _{pro} (% DW) (day 5)	C:N ratio (day 5)	Nitrate uptake (mM d ⁻¹)	Phosphate uptake (mM d ⁻¹)
Control	0.69 ± 0.01	507.6 ± 38.4	13.6 ± 0.8	21.9 ± 0.7	10.72 ± 0.34	3.38 ± 0.08	0.71 ± 0.08
N-	0.12 ± 0.00	165.4 ± 2.5	17.9 ± 0.2	12.2 ± 0.2	19.80 ± 0.37	-	0.10 ± 0.01
P-	0.40 ± 0.01	418.4 ± 32.4	17.8 ± 0.7	31.4 ± 0.1	7.94 ± 0.04	1.77 ± 0.06	-
HS	0.39 ± 0.02	241.5 ± 12.6	10.8 ± 0.5	27.0 ± 0.7	7.95 ± 0.26	4.35 ± 0.07	0.55 ± 0.03

Mean values and standard errors of triplicate measurements are given.

In all treatments the total fatty acid content increased from day 2 to 5, mainly due to TAG accumulation (Table 4). The highest proportion of TAG was detected under N starvation at day 5 and accounted for 79.5% of the TFA (179.1 mg g⁻¹ DW). In nutrient-replete conditions (control day 2), the dominant fatty acids were C16:0, C16:4n-3, C18:3n-3 (α -linolenic acid, ALA) and C20:5n-3 (EPA). Under N and P starved conditions, C16:0, C18:1n-9 (oleic acid, OA), C18:2n-6 (linoleic acid, LA) and ALA became dominant. TAG accumulation was attributed predominantly to a large increase in OA, comprising up to 52.7% of TAG. However, the PUFAs, LA, ALA and C20:4n-6 (arachidonic acid, ARA) were also enriched in TAG, and together total PUFAs accounted for 33.8-45.9% of TAG at day 5. The highest PUFA content of 90.6 mg g⁻¹ DW, as well as the highest ω -3 fatty acid content of 43.6 mg g⁻¹ DW, was observed after 5 days of P starvation. The LA and ALA contents were also higher in P-starved cells compared with other treatments. The highest amount of EPA was 6.7 mg g⁻¹ DW (4.9% TFA) in high-density control cultures (day 5), but lower during P and N starvation at 5.4 and 3.8 mg g⁻¹ DW, respectively. The lowest EPA content of 2.1 mg g⁻¹ DW was recorded for the HS group at day 2. In contrast to EPA, the ARA content was enhanced more by N starvation than by P starvation. ARA increased from 1.4 mg g^{-1} DW in nutrient replete conditions (4.0% TFA) to 7.4 and 4.6 mg g⁻¹ DW (4.1 and 2.6% TFA) in N and P treatments, respectively, due to its accumulation in TAG. The HS treatment induced the accumulation of TAG with a large proportion of OA at day 2. The proportion of TAG was higher in the HS treatment (35.0% TFA) than that of control cultures (20.2% TFA).

	Control				N-				Р-				HS			
	day 2		day5		day 2		day5		day 2		day5		day 2		day5	
	TFA	TAG	TFA	TAG	TFA	TAG	TFA	TAG	TFA	TAG	TFA	TAG	TFA	TAG	TFA	TAG
C14:0	0.54	0.04	1.17	0.38	0.46	0.28	1.13	0.55	0.41	0.11	1.26	0.58	0.31	0.02	1.14	0.26
	(0.05)	(0.01)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.17)	(0.03)	(0.06)	(0.01)	(0.09)	(0.03)	(0.06)	(0.03)	(0.08)	(0.02)	(0.06)	(0.01)
C16:0	3.62	0.36	19.16	10.71	7.42	5.31	17.23	11.47	6.66	2.20	19.24	7.21	3.19	1.39	16.51	7.45
	(0.28)	(0.03)	(1.30)	(1.17)	(1.04)	(0.74)	(0.50)	(0.27)	(0.96)	(0.19)	(1.90)	(0.22)	(0.81)	(0.21)	(1.02)	(0.19)
C16:2(n-6)	0.64	0.05	6.56	2.04	2.57	0.79	4.43	1.99	1.57	0.37	6.42	2.71	0.61	0.12	5.48	1.22
	(0.06)	(0.02)	(0.04)	(0.12)	(0.26)	(0.11)	(0.22)	(0.06)	(0.17)	(0.05)	(0.33)	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.01)	(0.34)	(0.06)
C16:3(n-3)	1.69	0.16	5.48	2.11	5.04	1.72	6.97	3.87	3.82	0.94	7.79	4.11	1.63	0.23	5.31	1.44
	(0.09)	(0.02)	(0.07)	(0.13)	(0.46)	(0.22)	(0.30)	(0.13)	(0.50)	(0.13)	(0.40)	(0.09)	(0.24)	(0.03)	(0.29)	(0.02)
C16:4(n-3)	6.16	1.35	5.14	2.42	3.36	1.22	3.87	2.14	4.59	1.41	4.89	2.76	3.79	0.72	5.03	1.73
	(0.32)	(0.08)	(0.11)	(0.12)	(0.33)	(0.17)	(0.17)	(0.09)	(0.59)	(0.19)	(0.19)	(0.09)	(0.66)	(0.09)	(0.35)	(0.11)
C18:0	0.32	0.29	1.61	0.48	0.00	0.23	1.61	0.60	-0.04	0.31	2.47	0.62	0.00	0.02	2.11	0.34
	(0.14)	(0.15)	(0.54)	(0.22)	(0.14)	(0.06)	(0.44)	(0.08)	(0.06)	(0.02)	(0.64)	(0.11)	(0.17)	(0.04)	(0.34)	(0.04)
C18:1(n-9)	0.53	0.13	37.03	32.85	25.20	23.74	78.78	75.05	7.71	6.34	57.56	52.69	2.43	1.86	22.55	19.30
	(0.03)	(0.01)	(3.82)	(3.96)	(3.37)	(3.24)	(2.07)	(2.45)	(0.71)	(0.56)	(2.03)	(1.96)	(0.34)	(0.26)	(0.49)	(0.34)
C18:1(n-7)	0.24	0.00	1.09	0.65	0.51	0.35	1.31	1.01	0.50	0.26	2.18	1.44	0.13	0.02	0.58	0.29
	(0.01)	(0.00)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.05)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.03)	(0.13)	(0.07)	(0.04)	(0.02)	(0.05)	(0.02)
C18:2(n-6) (LA)	1.55	0.17	20.45	11.34	8.92	5.71	20.63	15.44	6.57	2.97	27.05	16.75	2.02	0.94	15.74	7.28
	(0.06)	(0.01)	(0.74)	(1.04)	(1.08)	(0.79)	(0.32)	(0.55)	(0.71)	(0.32)	(1.05)	(0.51)	(0.29)	(0.13)	(0.77)	(0.17)
C18:3(n-6)	0.47	0.13	2.93	1.78	2.13	1.50	4.29	3.76	2.56	0.98	8.90	4.45	0.52	0.26	2.27	1.22
	(0.04)	(0.01)	(0.09)	(0.13)	(0.27)	(0.20)	(0.07)	(0.12)	(0.32)	(0.13)	(0.49)	(0.11)	(0.08)	(0.03)	(0.08)	(0.03)
C18:3(n-3) (ALA)	11.46	1.50	16.80	7.49	12.94	5.61	19.85	11.63	12.98	4.45	22.66	13.46	8.43	1.87	16.94	5.88
	(0.64)	(0.11)	(0.36)	(0.54)	(1.28)	(0.66)	(0.72)	(0.48)	(1.66)	(0.57)	(0.93)	(0.40)	(1.33)	(0.24)	(1.03)	(0.22)

Table 4. Total fatty acids (TFA) and fatty acids in TAG under N starvation, P starvation and HS (32%) conditions (mg g⁻¹ DW).

C18:4(n-3)	2.52	0.76	1.79	0.93	0.75	0.40	0.98	0.63	2.14	0.85	2.85	1.92	1.35	0.37	1.87	0.73
	(0.15)	(0.05)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.08)	(0.06)	(0.04)	(0.02)	(0.31)	(0.13)	(0.11)	(0.04)	(0.24)	(0.05)	(0.12)	(0.03)
C20:1(n-9)	0.46	0.00	5.09	3.09	2.65	1.81	6.84	5.52	1.18	0.82	4.90	3.91	0.77	0.28	3.80	1.94
	(0.02)	(0.00)	(0.38)	(0.38)	(0.34)	(0.24)	(0.10)	(0.20)	(0.10)	(0.05)	(0.17)	(0.13)	(0.13)	(0.03)	(0.12)	(0.02)
C20:4(n-6) (ARA)	1.42	0.55	4.79	2.54	3.19	2.20	7.37	5.74	1.72	1.12	4.63	3.29	1.06	0.58	3.61	1.97
	(0.09)	(0.03)	(0.17)	(0.18)	(0.41)	(0.33)	(0.05)	(0.18)	(0.22)	(0.16)	(0.17)	(0.10)	(0.17)	(0.05)	(0.15)	(0.07)
C20:5(n-3) (EPA)	3.74	1.70	6.71	4.37	2.83	2.07	3.78	3.03	3.01	2.07	5.44	4.08	2.06	1.18	5.42	3.48
	(0.25)	(0.12)	(0.17)	(0.21)	(0.35)	(0.28)	(0.01)	(0.08)	(0.37)	(0.27)	(0.15)	(0.08)	(0.35)	(0.17)	(0.20)	(0.07)
Σ SFA	4.48	0.68	21.94	11.57	7.73	5.82	19.98	12.62	7.03	2.62	22.98	8.41	3.34	1.43	19.75	8.06
	(0.22)	(0.19)	(1.87)	(1.39)	(1.29)	(0.82)	(0.86)	(0.26)	(1.09)	(0.20)	(2.51)	(0.13)	(1.05)	(0.26)	(1.42)	(0.24)
Σ MUFA	1.23	0.13	51.68	36.59	28.36	25.90	86.92	81.58	9.39	7.42	64.64	58.03	3.33	2.16	26.93	21.53
	(0.03)	(0.01)	(4.23)	(4.39)	(3.77)	(3.54)	(2.14)	(2.68)	(0.86)	(0.63)	(2.27)	(2.15)	(0.50)	(0.30)	(0.61)	(0.33)
Σ PUFA	29.65	6.38	73.75	35.02	41.73	21.21	72.17	48.24	38.96	15.18	90.64	53.52	21.47	6.26	61.68	24.95
	(1.68)	(0.45)	(1.56)	(2.48)	(4.50)	(2.79)	(1.63)	(1.62)	(4.82)	(1.94)	(3.80)	(1.48)	(3.43)	(0.78)	(3.11)	(0.57)
Σ LC-PUFA	5.16	2.24	12.03	6.92	6.01	4.28	11.15	8.77	4.73	3.20	10.07	7.36	3.13	1.76	9.03	5.45
	(0.34)	(0.15)	(0.28)	(0.38)	(0.76)	(0.59)	(0.06)	(0.25)	(0.59)	(0.44)	(0.32)	(0.18)	(0.52)	(0.23)	(0.25)	(0.03)
ω3 fatty acids	25.57	4.40	35.92	9.25	24.92	6.89	35.46	10.45	26.55	5.49	43.64	11.58	17.26	3.93	34.58	7.51
	(1.45)	(0.17)	(0.66)	(5.01)	(2.49)	(2.64)	(1.21)	(6.20)	(3.42)	(1.25)	(1.78)	(7.34)	(2.82)	(0.32)	(1.95)	(3.27)
ω 6 fatty acids	4.08	0.90	34.72	17.69	16.81	10.20	36.71	26.94	12.42	5.45	47.00	27.19	4.21	1.89	27.09	11.69
	(0.23)	(0.07)	(0.97)	(1.47)	(2.01)	(1.41)	(0.46)	(0.86)	(1.40)	(0.65)	(2.02)	(0.79)	(0.62)	(0.22)	(1.16)	(0.14)
ω3/ω6 Ratio*	6.27	6.10	1.04	0.98	1.49	1.09	0.97	0.79	2.13	1.78	0.93	0.97	4.08	2.30	1.27	1.13
	(0.01)	(0.07)	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.02)	(0.02)	(0.01)	(0.04)	(0.02)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(0.11)	(0.05)	(0.02)	(0.02)
Total fatty acids	35.36	7.20	135.80	83.18	77.82	52.94	179.08	142.44	55.38	25.22	178.25	119.96	28.14	9.86	108.36	54.54
	(1.84)	(0.27)	(7.65)	(8.22)	(9.53)	(7.15)	(2.10)	(4.51)	(6.76)	(2.76)	(7.29)	(3.73)	(4.96)	(1.32)	(4.97)	(0.83)

Mean values (±standard error) of triplicates per treatment are given in the table.

3.3.1 Effect of light intensity on growth in 380 mL flat-plate photobioreactors

The effect of light intensity on the growth of K. antarctica was studied in flat-plate photobioreactors. In the first experiment (Li-Ex I), the maximum biomass productivity increased from 0.48 to 1.04 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ with rising irradiance from 70 to 250 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Table 5, Fig. 3), but there was no further increase in growth rate when light was increased to 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. Extracellular nitrate in all the cultures was exhausted by day 8 (Fig. 3c). In cultures supplied with 250 and 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, the A₆₈₀/A₅₄₀ ratio decreased rapidly after day six, reaching 0.95 to 0.93 after nine days. In cultures supplied with 70 µmol m⁻²s⁻¹ though, the effect was dampened, and the A₆₈₀/A₅₄₀ ratio reached a lowest value of 0.98 at day 16 (Fig. 3b). The pH under 250 and 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ increased from pH 6.5 ± 0.1 to pH 7.8 ± 0.1 in the first seven days, then decreased slightly to pH 7.6 toward the end of cultivation (Fig. 3d). In the 70 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ treatments, the pH peaked at 7.8 \pm 0.2 at day 8, and steadied at 7.7 \pm 0.1 during the rest of the cultivation period. In Li-Ex I the attenuated growth under 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Table 5), together with the nitrate and pH data, indicated that nutrient and CO₂ availability might have limited maximum growth in higher light conditions. To test whether we could obtain higher yields, the nutrient and CO₂ concentrations were subsequently increased, and the experiment was repeated at 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻ ¹. In this second experiment (Li-Ex II), the maximum biomass productivity was substantially higher, reaching maximum 2.37 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ (Fig. 4, Table 5). After the first day of cultivation, the absorbance ratio A₆₈₀/A₅₄₀ in Li-Ex II remained between 0.95 and 1.09.



Fig 3. The effect of light intensity (70, 250 and 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) on the growth of *K. antarctica* in flatplate photobioreactors over 18 days. (a) Cell density (g L⁻¹). (b) Extracellular nitrate concentration (mM). (c) The absorbance ratio A₆₈₀/A₅₄₀. (d) The culture pH. The error bars indicate the standard error of duplicate cultivations.

Table 5. Biomass production of *K. antarctica* grown in flat-plate photobioreactors illuminated with 70, 250 or 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. Values are the maximum biomass productivity (g L⁻¹ d⁻¹), maximum areal productivity (g m⁻² d⁻¹), and maximum photosynthetic yield (g mol⁻¹) obtained from the experiments Li-Ex I and Li-ExII.

Medium	Light intensity	CO_2	Maximum	Maximum areal	Maximum biomss
	(µmol photons m ⁻² s ⁻¹)	(%)	productivity	productivity	yield on light
			(g L ⁻¹ day ⁻¹)	(g m ⁻² day ⁻¹)	(g mol ⁻¹ photons)
2N-BBM	70	1	0.48 ± 0.01	6.36 ± 0.08	1.052 ± 0.014
2N-BBM	250	1	1.04 ± 0.01	13.85 ± 0.07	0.641 ± 0.003
2N-BBM	500	1	0.87 ± 0.10	11.62 ± 1.39	0.269 ± 0.032
3× 3N-BBM	500	5	2.37 ± 0.09	31.58 ± 1.21	0.731 ± 0.028

Mean values (±standard error) of duplicates per treatment are given in the table.



Fig 4. Growth of *K. antarctica* in optimized conditions in flat-plate photobioreactors (Li-Ex II, 500 µmol $m^2 s^{-1}$), using increased amounts of nutrients (3×3N-BBM) and CO₂ concentration (5% CO₂ v/v). (a) Cell density (g L⁻¹). (b) Absorbance ratio, A₆₈₀/A₅₄₀. (c) light transmitted through the reactor vessel (µmol $m^2 s^{-1}$) and biomass productivity (g L⁻¹ d⁻¹). Error bars indicate the standard error of the mean values (*n*=2).

3.3.2 Photosynthetic yield in 380 mL flat-plate photobioreactors

To characterize the photosynthetic efficiency of *K. antarctica* under different light intensities, the maximum biomass yield per mol photons PAR ($Y_{x/mol}$, g mol⁻¹) was calculated for each treatment (Table 5). The cultures under low irradiance used light more efficiently than those at higher light intensities, averaging 1.05 g mol⁻¹ at 70 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, and reducing to 0.27 g mol⁻¹ under highest light intensity of 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. In Li-Ex II, *K. antarctica* was found to tolerate the strong illumination and high nutrient concentrations (Fig. 4a). The highest cell density of 11.68 g L⁻¹ was obtained at the end of cultivation. In this second experiment, the photosynthetic efficiency at 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ was improved to 0.73 g mol⁻¹ and the maximum areal productivity of 31.58 g m⁻² d⁻¹ was the highest recorded (Table 5).

3.3.3 Fatty acid production in 380 mL flat-plate photobioreactors

In the flat-plate photobioreactors, K. antarctica illuminated with 70, 250 and 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ was able to accumulate considerable amounts of fatty acids, with a large increase in TAG and a slight decrease in polar lipid fatty acids towards the stationary phase (Fig. 5, Fig 2S). The highest TFA of 271.9 mg g⁻¹ DW was recorded under 250 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ at day 18, where 90.1% TFA was found in TAG (Fig. 2S). The abundance of PUFAs in polar lipids decreased as cultures aged, but those in TAG largely increased (Fig. 5c). Total PUFAs at day 10 (late exponential phase) ranged from 52.9 to 53.9 mg g⁻¹ DW and consistently increased up to 88.5 mg g⁻¹ DW until day 18 in the late stationary phase. The highest total PUFA content was recorded when cultures were illuminated with 250 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹, where 86.2% of total PUFAs were found in TAG. In all light treatments, we observed a time-dependent increase in ARA and LA content of K. antarctica, mostly attributed to TAG accumulation (Fig. 5a, 5b). The proportion of LA partitioning into TAG increased from 50.2 to 87.2% of total LA, whilst the proportion of ARA partitioning into TAG increased from 58.5 to 81.2% of total ARA. The highest ARA content was obtained under 250 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ at 9.6 mg g⁻¹ DW (3.5% TFA) in the late stationary phase. The total EPA content was mostly conserved throughout growth, ranging between 2.9 and 4.1 mg g⁻¹DW (Fig. 5a). However, the percent share of EPA consistently decreased from 3.6% of TFA during the late exponential phase, to its lowest value of 1.5% of TFA in the late stationary phase. The ratio of ω -3 to ω -6 fatty acids was the highest at 1.0 ± 0.1 at day 10, but decreased thereafter to 0.5 ± 0.03 , irrespective of the light intensity (Fig. 2S), due to a large increase in the abundance of LA (Fig. 5b).



Fig 5. The fatty acid composition (mg g⁻¹ DW) in TAG and polar lipids of *K. antarctica* grown in flat-plate photobioreactors under different light intensities (70, 250 and 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹), determined at day 10, 14 and 18. (a) Arachidonic acid, C20:4n-6 (ARA, left) and Eicosapentaenoic acid, C20:5n-3 (EPA, right). (b) Linoleic acid (LA, left) and α -linolenic acid (ALA, right). (c) Saturated fatty acids (SFA, left), monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA, center) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA, right). Error bars

indicate the standard error of duplicate cultivations.

3.4 Comparison of growth of *K*. *antarctica* with other temperate strains

To determine whether the obtained maximum productivity of *K*. *antarctica* at 15 °C under optimal conditions was similar to that of other temperate strains, the results were compared with other studies that employed only flat-plate photobioreactors with short light paths (< 30 mm) and illuminated between 500 and 1000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (Fig. 6). The productivity of *K*. *antarctica* at 15 °C was found to be comparable to that of the temperate strains cultivated at 20-35 °C, and the optimized maximum productivity (Li-Ex II) is amongst the higher values.



Fig 6. Comparison of maximum productivity of *K. antarctica* under 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ at 15°C (\blacksquare) with other studies (see Table 1S) under 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹(\bullet), or 500-1000 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹(\blacktriangle) in similar flat-plate bioreactors with comparable light path lengths (< 30mm). The grey and yellow lines represent the respective linear regression slopes.

4.Discussion

Although some data is available for *K. antarctica* (La Rocca et al. 2015; Vona et al. 2004; Ferroni et al. 2007; Lang et al. 2011), the present study provides a comprehensive analysis of its growth and fatty acid profile in photobioreactors. Especially, we were able to obtain relatively high biomass productivity and identify the effects of nutrient supply, high salt and light intensity on the dynamics of PUFA and TAG production. *K. antarctica* synthesized long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids, in addition to the more common C16 and C18 series PUFAs, making this cold-water strain a potential candidate for producing food and feed ingredients.

4.1 Koliella antarctica is euryhaline, but prefers lower salinity conditions

Salinity can affect the growth of microalgae by altering the biochemical composition and photosynthetic function (von Alvensleben et al. 2016). To improve biomass productivity, the salinity should be optimized for each strain (Martínez-Roldán et al. 2014). Batch growth in bubble tubes indicated that *K. antarctica* preferred lower salinity conditions, with maximum growth rates at 4%c. However, the microalga maintained wide salinity tolerance up to natural seawater concentrations (0-32‰). Although *K. antarctica* was isolated from sea water in Terra Nova Bay, Ross Sea, Antarctica (Andreoli et al. 1998), based on morphological and physiological traits it was suggested that the microalga could have originated from Antarctic freshwater habitats (Andreoli et al. 2000; Ferroni et al. 2007). This microalga is not found in open seas, and our salinity tolerance data suggests the association of *K. antarctica* with terrestrial, freshwater or brackish habitats. This broad salinity tolerance offers flexibility in mass cultivation using saline or brackish water, and could help reduce the freshwater footprint linked to microalgae cultivation (Guieysse et al. 2013). Furthermore, the tolerance to salinity variations may also help to avoid significant decreases in outdoor productivity or culture collapse caused by evaporation or rainfall (Ishika et al. 2017).

4.2 Effect of nitrogen, phosphorus and high salinity stress on fatty acid production

Nitrogen starvation is often the most effective strategy to trigger fatty acid accumulation in microalgae, whilst phosphorus starvation typically has more limited effects (Chen et al. 2017). Salinity can also be manipulated to induce fatty acid accumulation (Pal et al. 2011; Salama el et al. 2013). However, these conditions often decrease or arrest growth, which results in lower overall fatty acid productivity (Procházková et al. 2014). We firstly compared the effect of N-, P- and HS on TFA yield (mg L⁻¹). Phosphorus-starved cultures showed the highest TFA yield of 418.4 mg L⁻¹, although the highest fatty acid concentrations were obtained in both N- and P- starved cells (each approximately 18% DW). However, the reduced growth in N-starved cultures led to the lowest TFA yield of only 165.4 mg L⁻¹. Although this result indicates that P starvation could be the most efficient strategy to obtain high fatty acid productivity in this strain, the profile of nutritionally valuable LC-PUFAs should also be a criterion for bioprocess optimization.

To further investigate the impact of different stressors on the fatty acid profile, total fatty acids were fractionated into neutral lipids (TAG) and polar (membrane) lipids. Although TAG accumulation is mostly studied for biofuel purposes (Hu et al. 2008), its importance as a valuable source of fatty acids in nutrition applications has also been investigated (Klok et al. 2014). *Koliella antarctica* accumulated TAG up to 90.0% of TFA. Although TAG was mostly comprised of the mono-unsaturated fatty acid OA, PUFAs were also abundant and accounted for around 30-45% of the TAG. This trend is similar to our previous study, where Arctic snow algae deposited comparable amounts of PUFAs in TAG (Hulatt et al. 2017). Incorporation of PUFAs into TAG, including LC-PUFAs, has also been reported in *Thalassiosira pseudonana* and *Pavlova lutheri* (Guiheneuf and Stengel 2013; Tonon et al. 2002). *Lobosphera incisa*, a green microalga isolated from an alpine environment, is also known to accumulate large amounts of ARA in its TAG. For some microalgae that inhabit harsh environments, TAG might serve as a depot of PUFAs (Bigogno et al. 2002), and these strains could be cultivated under adverse conditions to maximize PUFA production.

For animal and human health, foods with high ω -3 fatty acid content are desirable (Abedi and Sahari 2014). In addition, a balanced ω -3/ ω -6 ratio is also important, because ω -3

and ω -6 fatty acids and their derivatives are often functionally and metabolically antagonistic (Glencross 2009; Simopoulos 2016). The recommended ω -3/ ω -6 ratio for human health is 0.5 to 1.0 (Simopoulos 2016), and in our study the ω -3/ ω -6 ratio of *K. antarctica* was between 0.5 and 6.3, under all conditions.

The best quality fatty acid profile was produced by P starvation amongst all the conditions tested. Phosphorus-starved cells contained the highest amount of PUFAs (90.6 mg g⁻¹ DW, 50.9% TFA) and ω -3 fatty acids (43.6 mg g⁻¹ DW, 24.5% TFA), with an ω -3/ ω -6 ratio of 0.9. The essential fatty acids LA and ALA were also abundant, compared with the other stress treatments. Although OA constituted a third (32.3%) of the TFAs in P-starved cells, valuable PUFAs can be separated from other fatty acids by fractional distillation or winterization (Mendes et al. 2007; Cuellar-Bermudez et al. 2015). Both natural and refined microalgae oils could be used as sources of food and feed and in nutraceutical and pharmacological applications (Adarme-Vega et al. 2012).

4.3 Koliella antarctica produces the LC-PUFAs EPA and ARA

Only a subset of microalgae species have the necessary metabolic pathways to produce LC-PUFAs with chain lengths of C20 and beyond (Muhlroth et al. 2013). Therefore, strains such as *K. antarctica* that can produce EPA and ARA, are potentially valuable cell factories. Our fatty acid identifications are concordant with Lang et al. (2011), who also identified the production of ARA and EPA in *Koliella*. In this study the highest EPA content amounted to 6.7 mg g⁻¹ DW (4.9% TFA) in control treatments. However, this was almost matched by cells under P starvation and HS conditions, each of which contained comparable amounts of EPA at 5.4 mg g⁻¹ DW (3.1 and 5.0% of TFA, respectively). The proportion of EPA produced by *K. antarctica* was similar to *Tetraselmis chuii*, a microalga commonly used in aquafeeds, in which EPA accounted for 5.0% of TFA (Lang et al. 2011). ARA accumulation by *K. Antarctica* was induced by both N and P starvation, increasing up to 7.4 and 4.6 mg g⁻¹ DW (4.1 and 2.6% TFA), respectively. The highest ARA content of 9.6 mg g⁻¹ DW (3.5% of TFA) was found under 250 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ after prolonged

nutrient starvation in the flat-plate photobioreactor, which is comparable to other candidate strains for ARA production, including *Porphyridium cruentum* (Řezanka et al. 2014).

EPA can be synthesized via the ω -3 and ω -6 pathways in microalgae (Guschina and Harwood 2006). Here, the presence of the intermediate fatty acid ARA implicates at least a role for the ω -6 route in *K. antarctica*. This pathway is also the dominant metabolic pathway in the EPA-rich eustigmatophyte *Nannochloropsis* (Schneider and Roessler 1994; Shene et al. 2016). However, the exact nature of LC-PUFA biosynthesis in *K. antarctica*, including the regulation of metabolic pathways, merits further investigation.

4.4 Protein content under nutrient stress

Nutritional and toxicological tests have reported that microalgae biomass is often suitable as a feed supplement or could replace conventional protein sources (Yaakob et al. 2014). Under stress conditions, carbon fixed by microalgae is partitioned toward carbohydrate or lipid synthesis, rather than protein synthesis (Hu et al. 2008). Our results indicate that phosphorus-starved cells had the highest protein content of 31.4% DW, whilst the nitrogen-starved cells recorded the lowest protein content of 12.2%. *K. antarctica* can accumulate fatty acids under P starvation whilst simultaneously maintaining the protein content. This feature could make the alga a suitable whole-cell ingredient for animal and fish feeds, in which both high protein and lipid contents are desired (Wells et al. 2017). However, the nutritional value of protein in *K. antarctica* needs to be evaluated by assessing its amino acid profile and conducting digestibility studies on animals.

4.5 Koliella antarctica is productive under high irradiance in flat-plate photobioreactors

Light intensity influences cell growth, and changes the biochemical composition of microalgae (He et al. 2015). Here, the maximum biomass yield on light was highest (1.05 g mol⁻¹) at 70 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, but decreased to 0.27 g mol⁻¹ at 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹. At low irradiances, higher photosynthetic efficiency can be obtained because heat dissipation by non-photochemical quenching (NPQ) or chlorophyll fluorescence are minimized (Müller et al. 2001). The maximum biomass yield on

light at 70 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ was comparable to those obtained in other studies at warmer temperatures, 25 °C. For example, values of 1.25 g mol⁻¹ and 1.11 g mol⁻¹ were obtained at low light intensities in the case of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Takache et al. 2010; Kliphuis et al. 2012). The attenuated growth at 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ relative to 250 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹ could be attributed to the combined effects of nutrient/CO₂ supply coupled with high irradiance. The high rate of nitrogen consumption in Li-Ex I likely suppressed protein biosynthesis and impaired photosynthetic performance (Ho et al. 2012). The negative effects of high irradiance can be mitigated by supplying excess nutrients and CO₂, and increasing the cell density to improve mutual shading (Chen et al. 2011). In Li-Ex II the maximum productivity of *K. antarctica* was substantially improved to 2.37 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ and the maximum biomass yield on light was enhanced proportionally to 0.73 g mol⁻¹. The tolerance of the microalga to high light in Li-Ex II indicates that *K. antarctica* could be suitable for outdoor cultivation where cells may experience moderate to strong irradiance.

Productivity and yield data are often specific to the test conditions, or to the optical configuration of the apparatus used for cultivation. To account for these variables, the productivity of *K. antarctica* at 15 °C was compared with other studies using flat-plate photobioreactors that were illuminated between 500 and 1000 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹, mostly at warmer temperatures. The results showed that the maximum productivity of 2.37 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ at 15 °C was comparable to that of other strains at 20-35 °C. To our knowledge, this is amongst the higher biomass productivities obtained at temperatures ≤ 15 °C, and one of few studies that has used optimized photobioreactor platforms to cultivate polar microalgae.

4.6 Conclusions

The cold-adapted microalga *K. antarctica* exhibited high maximum biomass productivity of 2.37 g L⁻¹ d⁻¹ at 15 °C after culture optimization, and tolerated a relatively broad range of salinities. The highest total fatty acid content obtained in this work was 271.9 mg g⁻¹ dry weight. Nitrogen and phosphorus starvation strongly induced TAG accumulation up to 90.3% TFA, that mostly consisted of the monounsaturated fatty acid OA. However, PUFAs were also abundant and together accounted for around 30-45% of total TAG. The highest amount of EPA was 6.7 mg g⁻¹

DW (4.9% TFA) in the control treatments. ARA accumulation mostly occurred in TAG and was largely induced by nitrogen starvation, reaching 9.6 mg g⁻¹ DW (3.5% TFA) in the late stationary phase. Phosphorus starvation was the best strategy tested here to obtain high total fatty acid yields (mg L⁻¹) whilst maintaining the protein content. Phosphorus-starved cells also contained the highest total PUFAs and long-chain omega-3 fatty acids. The high productivity of *K. antarctica* at cooler temperatures concurrent with production of high value LC-PUFAs could make this strain a potential candidate for producing food and feed ingredients, possibly offering the opportunity for cultivation in cooler climates or during winter in temperate regions.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Nord University for project support, especially the Aquaculture MS program, staff and infrastructure provided at the university research station. The authors thank Nordland County Government for the funding, as part of the project 'Bioteknologi– en framtidsrettet næring'. The authors are grateful to Bisa Saraswathy for providing input on earlier drafts of this manuscript. CJH is grateful for support from a European Commission Marie Skłodowska-Curie individual fellowship (No. 749910).

Author contributions

HS planned and conducted the study with guidance from CJH, KV and RHW. HS analyzed the samples and data with assistance from CJH. HS wrote the manuscript with input from CJH, KV and RHW.

Competing Interests

The authors declare no competing interests

5. References

- Abedi E, Sahari MA (2014) Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid sources and evaluation of their nutritional and functional properties. Food Science & Nutrition 2 (5):443-463. doi:10.1002/fsn3.121
- Adarme-Vega TC, Lim DKY, Timmins M, Vernen F, Li Y, Schenk PM (2012) Microalgal biofactories: a promising approach towards sustainable omega-3 fatty acid production. Microbial Cell Factories 11 (1):96. doi:10.1186/1475-2859-11-96
- Andreoli C, Lokhorst GM, Mani AM, Scarabel L, Moro I, La Rocca N, Tognetto L (1998) *Koliella antarctica* sp. nov.(Klebsormidiales) a new marine green microalga from the Ross Sea (Antarctica). Algological Studies/Archiv für Hydrobiologie, Supplement Volumes:1-8
- Andreoli C, Moro I, La Rocca N, Valle LD, Masiero L, Rascio N, Vecchia FD (2000) Ecological, physiological, and biomolecular surveys on microalgae from Ross Sea (Antarctica). Italian Journal of Zoology 67 (S1):147-156
- Bigogno C, Khozin-Goldberg I, Cohen Z (2002) Accumulation of arachidonic acid-rich triacylglycerols in the microalga *Parietochloris incisa* (Trebuxiophyceae, Chlorophyta). Phytochemistry 60 (2):135-143. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(02)00037-7
- Bischoff HW (1963) Some soil algae from Enchanted Rock and related algal species. Phycological studies University of Texas Publications:95
- Boelen P, van Dijk R, Sinninghe Damsté JS, Rijpstra WIC, Buma AGJ (2013) On the potential application of polar and temperate marine microalgae for EPA and DHA production. AMB Express 3:26-26. doi:10.1186/2191-0855-3-26
- Borowitzka MA (2013) High-value products from microalgae—their development and commercialisation. Journal of Applied Phycology 25 (3):743-756. doi:10.1007/s10811-013-9983-9
- Chen B, Wan C, Mehmood MA, Chang J-S, Bai F, Zhao X (2017) Manipulating environmental stresses and stress tolerance of microalgae for enhanced production of lipids and value-added products–A review. Bioresource Technology 244:1198-1206. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.170
- Chen C-Y, Yeh K-L, Aisyah R, Lee D-J, Chang J-S (2011) Cultivation, photobioreactor design and harvesting of microalgae for biodiesel production: A critical review. Bioresource Technology 102 (1):71-81. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.159
- Chisti Y (2013) Constraints to commercialization of algal fuels. Journal of biotechnology 167 (3):201-214. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2013.07.020</u>
- Cuellar-Bermudez SP, Aguilar-Hernandez I, Cardenas-Chavez DL, Ornelas-Soto N, Romero-Ogawa MA, Parra-Saldivar R (2015) Extraction and purification of high-value metabolites from microalgae: essential lipids, astaxanthin and phycobiliproteins. Microbial biotechnology 8 (2):190-209. doi:10.1111/1751-7915.12167
- Ferroni L, Baldisserotto C, Zennaro V, Soldani C, Fasulo MP, Pancaldi S (2007) Acclimation to darkness in the marine chlorophyte *Koliella antarctica* cultured under low salinity: hypotheses on its origin in the polar environment. European Journal of Phycology 42 (1):91-104. doi:10.1080/09670260600960850
- Glencross BD (2009) Exploring the nutritional demand for essential fatty acids by aquaculture species. Reviews in Aquaculture 1 (2):71-124. doi:10.1111/j.1753-5131.2009.01006.x

- Guieysse B, Béchet Q, Shilton A (2013) Variability and uncertainty in water demand and water footprint assessments of fresh algae cultivation based on case studies from five climatic regions. Bioresource Technology 128:317-323. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.10.096
- Guiheneuf F, Stengel DB (2013) LC-PUFA-enriched oil production by microalgae: accumulation of lipid and triacylglycerols containing n-3 LC-PUFA is triggered by nitrogen limitation and inorganic carbon availability in the marine haptophyte *Pavlova lutheri*. Mar Drugs 11 (11):4246-4266. doi:10.3390/md11114246
- Guschina IA, Harwood JL (2006) Lipids and lipid metabolism in eukaryotic algae. Progress in lipid research 45 (2):160-186
- He Q, Yang H, Wu L, Hu C (2015) Effect of light intensity on physiological changes, carbon allocation and neutral lipid accumulation in oleaginous microalgae. Bioresource technology 191:219-228
- Ho S-H, Chen C-Y, Chang J-S (2012) Effect of light intensity and nitrogen starvation on CO2 fixation and lipid/carbohydrate production of an indigenous microalga *Scenedesmus obliquus* CNW-N. Bioresource technology 113:244-252
- Hu Q, Sommerfeld M, Jarvis E, Ghirardi M, Posewitz M, Seibert M, Darzins A (2008) Microalgal triacylglycerols as feedstocks for biofuel production: perspectives and advances. The Plant Journal 54 (4):621-639. doi:10.1111/j.1365-313X.2008.03492.x
- Hulatt CJ, Berecz O, Egeland ES, Wijffels RH, Kiron V (2017) Polar snow algae as a valuable source of lipids? Bioresource Technology 235:338-347. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.03.130</u>
- Ishika T, Moheimani NR, Bahri PA (2017) Sustainable saline microalgae co-cultivation for biofuel production: A critical review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 78:356-368. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.04.110</u>
- Khozin-Goldberg I, Iskandarov U, Cohen Z (2011) LC-PUFA from photosynthetic microalgae: occurrence, biosynthesis, and prospects in biotechnology. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 91 (4):905-915. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3441-x
- Kliphuis AMJ, Klok AJ, Martens DE, Lamers PP, Janssen M, Wijffels RH (2012) Metabolic modeling of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*: energy requirements for photoautotrophic growth and maintenance. Journal of Applied Phycology 24 (2):253-266. doi:10.1007/s10811-011-9674-3
- Klok AJ, Lamers PP, Martens DE, Draaisma RB, Wijffels RH (2014) Edible oils from microalgae: insights in TAG accumulation. Trends in biotechnology 32 (10):521-528. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2014.07.004</u>
- Kvíderová J, Shukla SP, Pushparaj B, Elster J (2017) Perspectives of low-temperature biomass production of polar microalgae and biotechnology expansion into high latitudes. In: Margesin R (ed) Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 585-600. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-57057-0 25
- La Rocca N, Sciuto K, Meneghesso A, Moro I, Rascio N, Morosinotto T (2015) Photosynthesis in extreme environments: responses to different light regimes in the Antarctic alga *Koliella antarctica*. Physiol Plant 153 (4):654-667. doi:10.1111/ppl.12273
- Lang I, Hodac L, Friedl T, Feussner I (2011) Fatty acid profiles and their distribution patterns in microalgae: a comprehensive analysis of more than 2000 strains from the SAG culture collection. BMC Plant Biology 11 (1):124. doi:10.1186/1471-2229-11-124

- Lourenço SO, Barbarino E, Lavín PL, Lanfer Marquez UM, Aidar E (2004) Distribution of intracellular nitrogen in marine microalgae: calculation of new nitrogen-to-protein conversion factors. European Journal of Phycology 39 (1):17-32
- Markou G, Nerantzis E (2013) Microalgae for high-value compounds and biofuels production: A review with focus on cultivation under stress conditions. Biotechnology Advances 31 (8):1532-1542. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.07.011
- Martínez-Roldán AJ, Perales-Vela HV, Cañizares-Villanueva RO, Torzillo G (2014) Physiological response of *Nannochloropsis* sp. to saline stress in laboratory batch cultures. Journal of Applied Phycology 26 (1):115-121. doi:10.1007/s10811-013-0060-1
- Martins DA, Custódio L, Barreira L, Pereira H, Ben-Hamadou R, Varela J, Abu-Salah KM (2013) Alternative sources of n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in marine microalgae. Marine drugs 11 (7):2259-2281
- Mendes A, da Silva TL, Reis A (2007) DHA concentration and purification from the marine heterotrophic microalga *Crypthecodinium cohnii* CCMP 316 by winterization and urea complexation. Food technology and biotechnology 45 (1):38
- Morgan-Kiss RM, Priscu JC, Pocock T, Gudynaite-Savitch L, Huner NPA (2006) Adaptation and acclimation of photosynthetic microorganisms to permanently cold environments. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 70 (1):222-252. doi:10.1128/MMBR.70.1.222-252.2006
- Muhlroth A, Li K, Rokke G, Winge P, Olsen Y, Hohmann-Marriott MF, Vadstein O, Bones AM (2013) Pathways of lipid metabolism in marine algae, co-expression network, bottlenecks and candidate genes for enhanced production of EPA and DHA in species of Chromista. Mar Drugs 11 (11):4662-4697. doi:10.3390/md11114662
- Müller P, Li X-P, Niyogi KK (2001) Non-Photochemical Quenching. A Response to Excess Light Energy. Plant Physiology 125 (4):1558
- Pal D, Khozin-Goldberg I, Cohen Z, Boussiba S (2011) The effect of light, salinity, and nitrogen availability on lipid production by *Nannochloropsis* sp. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 90 (4):1429-1441. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3170-1
- Procházková G, Brányiková I, Zachleder V, Brányik T (2014) Effect of nutrient supply status on biomass composition of eukaryotic green microalgae. Journal of Applied Phycology 26 (3):1359-1377. doi:10.1007/s10811-013-0154-9
- Procházková L, Remias D, Holzinger A, Řezanka T, Nedbalová L (2018) Ecophysiological and morphological comparison of two populations of *Chlainomonas* sp. (Chlorophyta) causing red snow on ice-covered lakes in the High Tatras and Austrian Alps. European Journal of Phycology:1-14. doi:10.1080/09670262.2018.1426789
- Řezanka T, Lukavský J, Nedbalová L, Sigler K (2014) Production of structured triacylglycerols from microalgae. Phytochemistry 104:95-104. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2014.04.013</u>
- Ringuet S, Sassano L, Johnson ZI (2011) A suite of microplate reader-based colorimetric methods to quantify ammonium, nitrate, orthophosphate and silicate concentrations for aquatic nutrient monitoring. Journal of environmental monitoring : JEM 13 (2):370-376. doi:10.1039/c0em00290a
- Salama el S, Kim HC, Abou-Shanab RA, Ji MK, Oh YK, Kim SH, Jeon BH (2013) Biomass, lipid content, and fatty acid composition of freshwater *Chlamydomonas mexicana* and *Scenedesmus obliquus* grown under salt stress. Bioprocess and biosystems engineering 36 (6):827-833. doi:10.1007/s00449-013-0919-1

- Schneider JC, Roessler P (1994) Radiolabeling studies of lipids and fatty acids in *Nannochloropsis* (Eustigmatophyceae), an oleaginous marine alga. Journal of phycology 30 (4):594-598
- Sharma KK, Schuhmann H, Schenk PM (2012) High lipid induction in microalgae for biodiesel production. Energies 5 (5). doi:10.3390/en5051532
- Shene C, Chisti Y, Vergara D, Burgos-Díaz C, Rubilar M, Bustamante M (2016) Production of eicosapentaenoic acid by *Nannochloropsis oculata*: effects of carbon dioxide and glycerol. Journal of biotechnology 239:47-56
- Simopoulos PA (2016) An Increase in the Omega-6/Omega-3 Fatty Acid Ratio Increases the Risk for Obesity. Nutrients 8 (3). doi:10.3390/nu8030128
- Spijkerman E, Wacker A, Weithoff G, Leya T (2012) Elemental and fatty acid composition of snow algae in Arctic habitats. Frontiers in microbiology 3:380
- Takache H, Christophe G, Cornet JF, Pruvost J (2010) Experimental and theoretical assessment of maximum productivities for the microalgae *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* in two different geometries of photobioreactors. Biotechnology progress 26 (2):431-440
- Teoh M-L, Chu W-L, Marchant H, Phang S-M (2004) Influence of culture temperature on the growth, biochemical composition and fatty acid profiles of six Antarctic microalgae. Journal of Applied Phycology 16 (6):421-430. doi:10.1007/s10811-004-5502-3
- Tonon T, Harvey D, Larson TR, Graham IA (2002) Long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid production and partitioning to triacylglycerols in four microalgae. Phytochemistry 61 (1):15-24. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9422(02)00201-7</u>
- von Alvensleben N, Magnusson M, Heimann K (2016) Salinity tolerance of four freshwater microalgal species and the effects of salinity and nutrient limitation on biochemical profiles. Journal of Applied Phycology 28 (2):861-876. doi:10.1007/s10811-015-0666-6
- Vona V, Di Martino Rigano V, Lobosco O, Carfagna S, Esposito S, Rigano C (2004) Temperature responses of growth, photosynthesis, respiration and NADH: nitrate reductase in cryophilic and mesophilic algae. New Phytologist 163 (2):325-331. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01098.x
- Wells ML, Potin P, Craigie JS, Raven JA, Merchant SS, Helliwell KE, Smith AG, Camire ME, Brawley SH (2017) Algae as nutritional and functional food sources: revisiting our understanding. Journal of Applied Phycology 29 (2):949-982. doi:10.1007/s10811-016-0974-5
- Wijffels RH, Barbosa MJ (2010) An outlook on microalgal biofuels. Science 329 (5993):796
- Yaakob Z, Ali E, Zainal A, Mohamad M, Takriff MS (2014) An overview: biomolecules from microalgae for animal feed and aquaculture. Journal of Biological Research-Thessaloniki 21 (1):6. doi:10.1186/2241-5793-21-6

Supplementary data



Fig 1S. The growth curves of *K. antarctica*, cultured for 14 days, under various salinity concentrations (0-32‰). Standard errors of the mean values of duplicates are shown.



Fig 2S. Total fatty acid content (mg g⁻¹ DW) in TAG and polar lipids and the ω 3/ ω 6 fatty acids ratio of *K*. *antarctica* grown in flat-plate photobioreactors under different light intensities (70, 250 and 500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹), determined at day 10, 14 and 18. Error bars indicate the standard error of duplicate cultivations.

Table 1S. Comparison of maximum biomass productivity of *K. antarctica* with literature values. The data

are presented in manuscript Figure 6.

Species	Maximum biomass productivity (g L ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	Temperature (°C)	Light intensity (µmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹)	Reference
Koliella antarctica	0.87	15.0	500	This study
Koliella antarctica	2.37	15.0	500	This study
Scenedesmus obliquus	0.8	20.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	0.8	20.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	0.8	20.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	2.1	20.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	1.3	20.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	1.1	20.0	500	Meiser and Walter Trösch. (2004)
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	1.4	20.0	750	Meiser and Walter Trösch. (2004)
Phaeodactylum tricornutum	1.4	20.0	1000	Meiser and Walter Trösch. (2004)
Chlorella vulgaris	1.4	25.0	560	Liao et al. (2017)
Scenedesmus obliquus	1.8	27.5	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	2.6	27.5	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	2.1	27.5	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	1.5	27.5	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	2.8	27.5	800	Breuer et al. (2013)
Chlorella vulgaris	1.1	29.0	980	Degen et al. (2001)
Chlorella vulgaris	2.6	29.0	980	Degen et al. (2001)
Scenedesmus ovalternus	3.2	30.0	750	Koller et al. (2018)
Scenedesmus ovalternus	2.1	30.0	750	Koller et al. (2018)
Scenedesmus obliquus	1.3	35.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	2.3	35.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	1.3	35.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)
Scenedesmus obliquus	1.5	35.0	500	Breuer et al. (2013)

- Breuer G, Lamers PP, Martens DE, Draaisma RB, Wijffels RH (2013) Effect of light intensity, pH, and temperature on triacylglycerol (TAG) accumulation induced by nitrogen starvation in *Scenedesmus obliquus*. Bioresource technology 143:1-9
- Degen J, Uebele A, Retze A, Schmid-Staiger U, Trösch W (2001) A novel airlift photobioreactor with baffles for improved light utilization through the flashing light effect. Journal of biotechnology 92 (2):89-94. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1656(01)00350-9</u>
- Koller AP, Wolf L, Brück T, Weuster-Botz D (2018) Studies on the scale-up of biomass production with Scenedesmus spp. in flat-plate gas-lift photobioreactors. Bioprocess and biosystems engineering 41 (2):213-220
- Liao Q, Sun Y, Huang Y, Xia A, Fu Q, Zhu X (2017) Simultaneous enhancement of *Chlorella vulgaris* growth and lipid accumulation through the synergy effect between light and nitrate in a planar waveguide flat-plate photobioreactor. Bioresource Technology 243:528-538. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.06.091
- Meiser A, Schmid-Staiger U, Trösch W (2004) Optimization of eicosapentaenoic acid production by *Phaeodactylum tricornutum* in the flat panel airlift (FPA) reactor. Journal of applied phycology 16 (3):215-225